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It has been a year of
outstanding achievement for
your company. There was no
problem too large to be tackled
and beaten. I am privileged
to have played a role in this
remarkable project and to
have witnessed first-hand, the
emergence of the new world
force in iron ore.
Fortescue made its mark as
the next Australian mineral export heavyweight in May when
the first shipment of ore sailed to Baosteel, the largest of the
Chinese steel mills. This was the end of an amazingly rapid
process involving exploration, financing, mining, transport,
construction and commissioning, all in less than five years.
As operations began in earnest, so did the process of
ramping up and increasing operational efficiency. Fortescue
declared its vision was to be the most efficient iron ore
supplier in the world, and to deliver the very best customer
service to clients. The achievement of this vision will
require hard work and a strong commitment to constantly
seeking ways to do better. There needs to be a full
commitment to innovation.
Fortescue has embraced unconventional methods of
improving production, is actively seeking out the unmet
and unarticulated needs of customers, fast-tracking new
ideas, looking at different ways to fund ventures, and
seeking to underwrite future revenue through further
exploration and development.
I would like to reflect on some of the outstanding
recognitions which the company received in the past year.
The company won the “Development Funding” award at
the Mines and Money conference in London. The company
was named “Dealer of the Year” at the Diggers and Dealers
conference and it was also added to the S&P/ASX 50 Index.
More recently, Fortescue was named “Producer of the Year”

at the 2008 National Mining awards in Sydney.
This prestigious award was in recognition of the incredible
achievement in getting this huge project constructed,
including a massive port and rail system that will last
generations, and producing ore within three years of the
first discovery hole.
The benchmarks attained are impressive. Over 2007-2008,
Fortescue took delivery of a fleet of 15 locomotives and 816
wagons equipped with electronically-controlled air brakes,
using technology which improves braking performance
and which allows long and heavy trains to operate at higher
speeds with improved safety and fuel economy.
Shareholder numbers increased almost six-fold from 5,651
to 30,797, direct employees grew from 230 to 1,230, a
substantial shipping business was established and an
office was opened in Shanghai.
Exploration led to the announcement of 1.7 billion tonnes
of inferred resources at Fortescue’s Solomon tenements.
One year ago Fortescue directly employed 10 Aboriginal
people as operations had yet to start. Within months
of starting operations more than 100 employees (or about
seven per cent of the workforce) are Aboriginal and that
number is growing monthly.
The list of achievements is far larger, but this snapshot gives
a taste to shareholders of the great advancement of the
company during the year.
None of these achievements would have occurred
without the outstanding leadership of CEO Andrew Forrest
and his highly competent and committed senior staff and
employees. If we think about the huge “behind the scenes”
change management pressures that emerged as
Fortescue developed from an exploration company to
a revenue-earning mining operation, we become aware
of the total commitment that has been, and will continue
to be, needed from every person in the company.

We owe a serious vote of thanks to everyone who has been
part of the company’s development over the past 12 months.
Their achievement has been outstanding and each of them
can look back with pride at what they have established.
It has been of great interest to me over the five years that
I have been a Director of the company to watch some of
the more negative aspects of a free market at work. There
are many examples of efforts made by our competitors to
slow down or frustrate the growth of Fortescue. It seems
to me that this aggressive, monopolistic approach is not
considerate of the overall efficiency of the Australian mining
industry which must compete in a global market. There are
signs of this negative approach decreasing and it is my
hope that the day will come when we can work together to
increase the efficiency of our total industry.
By continuing to recognise that unconventionality can have
merit, I believe Fortescue can keep delivering what our
shareholders want - sustainable growth in the company and
the ability to help the world grow and prosper accordingly.
Thank you all for your support of and trust in Fortescue - it’s
been an excellent year.

Herb Elliott
Chairman
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Five short years ago, the
Fortescue team consisted of
three people poring over maps
around a kitchen table. The
Cloudbreak mine was a scrubby
plain in the Pilbara’s Chichester
Range and the Herb Elliott Port
was just a few mangroves by the
Port Hedland shore.
In our second year we had
expanded to a major geological
team with anthropologists and environmentalists, light
aircraft and camps spread across the vast West Australian
Pilbara region and exploration teams on four-wheel-drive
motorbikes resembling vehicles from a Mad Max movie set.
The team in Perth beavered away in cramped but highly
productive offices.
Three years ago, the Cloudbreak discovery was made, the
team was growing rapidly, ore reserves were delineated
and detailed planning for a heavy-haul rail line connecting
the reserves to a new major bulk port was advancing. The
Fortescue marketing team was stretched across the globe
in deep engagement with the world’s steel industry.
Two years ago, with construction advancing rapidly, the
final plans of a multi-part financing strategy were sealed.
The target was set. Fortescue would load its first ore to
China in the first half of calendar year 2008 - a seemingly
impossible task.

mountain) moored at the newly completed Fortescue Herb
Elliott Port. An impromptu crowd of us stood on the deck of
the ship, wearing what have proudly become known as the
Fortescue colours. As we watched, the first commercial ore
from the recently finished Cloudbreak mine was loaded.

- and we are stepping up to the plate! We’ve formed
comprehensive land access agreements with Aboriginal
groups throughout our project area and we’re ensuring our
commitment to Indigenous employment remains a top priority
of the company.

First Ore on Ship, the incredible milestone everyone at
Fortescue had been waiting for, was here. The dream that had
encompassed so many people had finally come true.

Our great team has nearly finished optimising the project
from 45mta to 55mta, with the next step expansion to
80mta underway. Meanwhile, our operations team works
tirelessly around the clock, proving the company’s worth.
Fortescue’s tenements in the Pilbara hold more than four
billion tonnes of resources and that number is growing
constantly. The development of a mine at Christmas Creek,
east of Cloudbreak, is already underway. Last December
our tenacious geologists discovered in excess of 1.7 billion
tonnes of resources at Solomon, west of Cloudbreak.

On the 18th of July, just over eight weeks after First Ore on
Ship and exactly five years to the day that Fortescue came
into existence as a company, the last of two million tonnes of
ore was shipped from the Herb Elliott Port over the requisite
four week period. The banking experts declared “practical
completion” for the project and Fortescue had absolutely,
completely arrived - the indisputable New Force in Iron Ore.
But although it was surface miners from Germany that dug
the rich Australian ore from the ground, plants and conveyors
assembled from around the world that took the ore to the
train, and a railway made in China and Australia that took the
ore to the port, these solid, inanimate objects are not what has
made the company what it is.
Fortescue is one thing: the heart and determination of
Fortescue People. Five years into Fortescue’s existence,
over 1,200 men and women now wear the Fortescue colours.
These colleagues make up the impassioned, enthusiastic,
hard-working, innovative and determined culture which is
what Fortescue truly stands for. A culture of people who
never, ever give up.

Just one short year ago, construction of the rail, port and
mine was 70 per cent complete, Fortescue’s first stage of ore
production was already “sold out” in advance to major steel
mills, the company had entered the S&P/ASX 100 Index and
everyone in the rapidly expanding team was working at an
exhaustive pace.

This is what drives Fortescue and it is the tool box of values
we dip into every day to continue building our company.
Here at Fortescue, we are a family and our culture is more
important to us than ore in the ground or the assets that
commercialise it.

Then, on the 15th of May 2008, a clear bright day in Port
Hedland, the ore carrier MV Heng Shan (everlasting

As the largest tenement holder in the Pilbara, we hold the
most responsibility for sustainability and the environment

It’s the Fortescue Family who is making this happen and
I am proud to be part of it. Everyone involved in Cloudbreak,
the Herb Elliott Port, the rail line, the exploration camps,
the heritage surveys, the Perth office, the offshore offices
in Shanghai and Singapore, and the shareholders and
stakeholders from every corner of the globe - we are all part
of this great Australian endeavour.
Together, we have proven that we can build something
from nothing. We can take a dream and, with hard work,
persistence and determination, we can make it a reality. We
can take something that is said to be impossible and make it
not only a possibility but a roaring success.
Thank you for being part of the Fortescue Family. We took
our first step only a few short years ago and this magnificent
journey has only just begun.

Andrew Forrest
CEO
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Activities Report
Fortescue Metals
Group Ltd’s
financial year
2007/2008 is
best described
as a time of
hitting targets.
The exhaustive
planning and
strategising of
the previous
years was turned
into results most notably
the successful
completion of
construction
and the smooth
transition into
production and
shipping.

The company’s position has
improved by every measure.
Now well into cash flow, the
mining processes are tested and
working and the product handling
infrastructure systems of port
and rail are operating efficiently.
The workforce is growing, both
in numbers and experience, and
the Fortescue Family culture is
permeating through the ranks.
The future is also being shored
up as continuing exploration
success provides for an ever
increasing Resource and Reserve
portfolio. In planning for the many
further decades of operations
and growth, the Heng Shan
expansion project (translated
as “everlasting mountain”) has
been activated. The incredible
momentum of the past few years
is being maintained and focused
on the growth opportunities
being presented to Fortescue
to re-confirm the Pilbara’s
reputation as the world’s
dominant iron ore supplier to the
growth markets of Asia.
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Construction to production
The ultimate milestone for the phase one project was the first shipment of ore

At the minesite, the ore processing facility is complete and is capable

leaving Fortescue’s Herb Elliott Port at Port Hedland in mid-May 2008.

of producing over 100,000 tonnes of product per day. Associated mine
infrastructure including train loading facilities, a permanent village for over

This shipment represented the conclusion of an intensive 27 month construction

1,300 people and the largest corporate airport in the Pilbara are now all

program of the company’s port and rail infrastructure. The integrated product

operating as planned.

handling facilities were originally designed and constructed to accommodate a
volume of 45 million tonnes per annum (mta). During 2008 this was optimised to

The actual mining operation commenced in late 2007 and within just over

provide for a 55 mta operation through additional ship loading infrastructure at

6 months hit an annualised production rate of 24 mta on its way to the initial

the port and product circuits at the mine.

target of up to 55 mta.

Construction and installation for Phase One of the port included a two-berth

Looking ahead, the Team 45 collaboration between WorleyParsons and Fortescue

wharf; a ship loader with a rated capacity of 11,500 tonnes per hour; over seven

Metals Group has been re-engaged for the Heng Shan program which aims for

kilometres of conveyors; an ore stacker and product reclaimer that have the

a staged increase in export tonnages towards an ultimate target of 160 mta from

highest rated capacity of any in the Pilbara and a twin cell ore car dumper that

the Chichester Range deposits of Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek.

unloads two wagons every 90 seconds.
Phase One of Fortescue’s rail infrastructure included the construction of a
256 kilometre railway line inclusive of eight bridges that connect the Cloudbreak
mine with the port and the procurement of 15 GE Dash-9 locomotives and
816 purpose-built ore wagons that have the highest carrying capacity of any ore
wagon in the world.
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Finance

With increased market awareness of Fortescue and encouraged by a 10 for 1

The Company’s financial position strengthened in an environment categorised by

share split in December 2007, the share register has experienced a near six-fold

continuing high iron ore demand and prices, against volatile financial markets. In

rise in shareholder numbers. As recorded in the 2007 annual report there were

July 2007, a capital raising of A$504 million was achieved through a placement of

5,651 shareholders which compares to 30,797 under this 2008 report.

14 million shares at a price of $3.60 (adjusted for 1 for 10 share split in December
2007). These funds were utilised in part to fund the optimised 55 mta project work

Marketing

with the balance used for general capital purposes. Now well into production,

Consistent with the Company’s sales strategy, Fortescue settled its long term

working capital is being bolstered by the net inflow of funds from product sales.

contracts under the 2008/09 benchmark pricing regime which has allowed for
record sales prices.

The previous year’s efforts of Fortescue’s finance team in raising over
A$2.7 billion for the project capital funding were acknowledged in August and

The agreed prices of US$2.0169 per Fe unit of lump and US$1.4466 per Fe unit

December 2007 when the company won two prestigious awards - the Australian

for fines represented increases of 96 per cent and 80 per cent respectively.

Diggers & Dealers “Dealer of the Year” and the UK Mines & Money “Development
Funding Award”.

To end FY2008, Fortescue had shipped over 1.6 million tonnes and since then
many more millions of tonnes of product have been exported, generating strong

The successful transition from construction to production, coupled with the record

cash flows for the company.

benchmark iron ore price, saw market capitalisation grow exponentially and
Fortescue joined the S&P/ASX 50 share index.

AnnualReport2008
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Fortescue has secured sales contracts with all of China’s Top 10 steel mills and

Upwards of 97 per cent of the tenements are solely held by Fortescue with

many of the mid tier mills. Since shipping in May 2008, around 30 customers have

joint-venture and share-in, farm-out arrangements for the remainder. A detailed

received product from the Cloudbreak mine. The ore has been well received and

review of the tenement holding is provided on pages 110 and 111.

the ever increasing supply is just a small step in Fortescue’s inexorable march to
firmly establish itself as one of the world’s major seaborne iron ore providers.

To date Resource estimates exceeding 4.1 billion tonnes and Reserve estimates
exceeding 1.6 billion tonnes have been delineated within only a small part of

Reflective of the deep engagement the Company has with China, Fortescue

Fortescue’s Pilbara tenement holdings (note the last Reserve upgrade was

recently established a China Advisory Board. The board is chaired by

dated 19th September 2008).

Mr Long Yongtu, Secretary General of the Boao Forum and former Chief
Negotiator for China in its entry into the World Trade Organisation. Other

Details of both resources and reserves are shown in the tables below.

members include Mr Robin Chambers who has many years legal experience
within China, Mr Cai Rang former Head of the China Institute of Iron & Steel

Reserve Cloudbreak

Tonnes

Fe

and former Australian Prime Minister Mr Bob Hawke.

and Christmas Creek

millions

%

Proved

Silica

Alumina

Phos

LOI

%

%

%

%

143

59.7

3.52

1.87

0.051

8.19

Reserves, Resources and Exploration

Probable

1,482

58.8

4.23

2.39

0.057

7.62

Over 2007-2008 Fortescue more than doubled its tenement portfolio which now

TOTAL ALL

1,625

58.9

4.16

2.35

0.053

7.33

stands at approximately 85,000 square kilometres. New ground was granted
both within Western Australia and overseas. Many new tenements were granted
within the Pilbara region of Western Australia wherein the Hamersley Province is
recognised as being the world’s best address for iron ore. The Pilbara tenements
are segregated into a number of distinct regions including the original east
Pilbara project area in the Chichester Ranges which include the deposits of
Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek and the more recent western tenements
within the Solomon Group.
A large tenement area within the adjoining West Officer Basin region was also

Resource Chichester

Tonnes

Fe

Silica

Alumina

Phos

LOI

Range

millions

%

%

%

%

%

Measured

150

59.4

3.62

1.95

0.051

8.40

Indicated

1,649

58.5

4.24

2.50

0.055

7.88

664

57.7

4.89

2.85

0.060

7.36

2,463

58.2

4.46

2.61

0.056

7.71

Inferred
Sub Total
Resource Solomon

Tonnes

Fe

Silica

Alumina

Phos

LOI

Group

millions

%

%

%

%

%

Inferred

1,715

TOTAL ALL

4,178

applied for by Fortescue, with this area considered prospective for manganese.
There were also tenements applied for in the Kimberley region of Western
Australia and in New Zealand which are prospective for a number of minerals
including iron sands.

55.9

7.01

3.49

0.073

8.47
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An important joint venture (JV) exploration relationship exists between Fortescue

Fortescue People

and the Chinese steel giant Baosteel over the prospective magnetite deposit

Over 1,000 people joined Fortescue during the year taking employee numbers

known as Glacier Valley. This area is close to Fortescue’s rail line and is located

from 195 in June last year to 1,230 as at June 2008. Employee numbers will

about midway between Port Hedland and the Cloudbreak mine site. Under the

continue to expand to meet operational and expansion related roles.

JV terms, Baosteel pays for all exploration expenses and derives a progressive
farm-in share of the JV up to a possible 50 per cent interest, which would occur

Fortescue’s culture is characterised by the empowerment of its workforce,

on the announcement of a resource estimate of at least 1 billion tonnes.

enthusiasm, determination, integrity, the generation of ideas and setting of stretch
targets, a frugal approach to expenses and very importantly, the strong emphasis

Stage two infill drilling to allow for resource estimation and detailed metallurgical

on the “Fortescue Family”.

test work has recently been completed. Preliminary results have demonstrated
that the magnetite is of consistent grade across the main target zone.

Attracting and recruiting top calibre team members is the highest priority.
The Fortescue recruitment team is the custodian of the Fortescue culture and
is accountable for developing sourcing strategies to meet future workforce needs,
whilst leveraging Fortescue’s strong brand and continuing to forge the company’s
reputation as the best employer in the mining sector.
Fortescue was recently voted Western Australia’s best corporate brand in a poll
of public relations companies. The brand, associated with Fortescue’s “can-do”
ability to achieve, illustrates how the company’s culture is managing to attract
and retain new employees during the current skills shortage.
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This year, a new high performance bonus program and performance review

Community

process was introduced. These apply to all employees equally, irrespective of

Hundreds of Fortescue staff and their families now live and work in the Pilbara,

job title and role. They focus on aligning employee effort with results, rewarding

actively contributing to community life. In reflection of the company’s commitment

high performance and providing all employees with the opportunity to share in

to the area, the community office (established almost four years ago) now has a

Fortescue’s success.

much expanded team based in the South Hedland shopping centre. This location
provides for easy access to the company’s community officers and during the

Opportunities for employees to become part owners in Fortescue are being

year there was an average of 375 contacts per month (60 per cent walk-in and 40

facilitated through the Share Rights Plan under our bonus scheme and through a

per cent phone). Many of these were for employment opportunities but there were

Salary Sacrifice Share Plan, all of which were introduced this year.

also 116 requests for support and sponsorship.
For much of the year, the community development team’s work focused on two
Community Development Plans which form part of Fortescue’s commitments in
State Agreements. Including local residents and organisations in its strategic
planning is making sure there is a common direction for Fortescue and the
Pilbara community.
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Systems have been put in place to help the Company effectively manage

VTEC Program

community incidents and issues promptly and amicably. The ability to listen

Another important feature of Fortescue’s commitment to the community and

and to provide up-to-date and clear information has received extremely positive

its indigenous stakeholders is the vocational training and employment centre

feedback.

(VTEC). The program is based on providing short and targeted training to
Aborigines with the guarantee of a job following the successful completion of the

The Company’s staff relocation program continues excellent work to settle new

course. In July 2007, Fortescue celebrated with the first 20 graduates from VTEC

employees and their families into the Pilbara community. During 2007-2008 more

and since that time there have been more than 100 graduates who have gained

than 140 people were helped with their move to Hedland, and encouraged to

employment across the project.

discover the social, cultural and environmental opportunities available to them so
they could become active members of the community.

The VTEC program is operated out of the TAFE college in South Hedland and
its success has been through the combined efforts and financial support of
many including the State and Federal governments through the Department of
Employment and Workplace Relations, the local Hedland council and various
employer groups including Laing O’Rourke.

AnnualReport2008
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ASX Best
Practice
recommendations.

The ASX Best Practice
Compliance Statement provides
a description of the manner in
which Fortescue Metals Group
Ltd (Fortescue) complies
with the ASX Principles and
associated recommendations.
The Board of Directors is
committed to implementing
high standards of corporate
governance over Fortescue
and is ultimately responsible
to the shareholders for the
performance of the Company.

More detailed compliance
statements are also available
in the corporate governance
section of Fortescue’s website
(www.fmgl.com.au).
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Principle 1: Lay Solid Foundations.

accountabilities and contributions of the board and management of Fortescue.

ASX Principle 1 states that a company should “recognise and publish

The Board has specifically reserved the following matters for its decision:

the respective roles and responsibilities of the Board and Management”.

•

the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”);

Fortescue complies with this principle and associated recommendations
in the following manner:
Recommendation 1.1: Formalise and disclose the functions reserved
to the Board and those delegated to management.
The Company has an experienced Board of Directors with appropriate
expertise across a range of sectors, including mining, rail and port operations,
finance and marketing. The Board has adopted a specific Director’s Code
of Conduct, in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors, which defines core principles that all Directors are
required to adhere to.
The Company has also adopted a Statement of Matters Reserved for the Board
to further clarify and distinguish the roles of Directors and Management.

Appointing, evaluating, rewarding, and if necessary the removal of,

•

Guidance for and approval of business strategy;

•

Determination of major capital and operating expenditures and
major funding activities proposed by management; and

•

Formal determinations that are required by Fortescue’s constitutional
documents, by statute or by other external regulation.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-to-day activities to the CEO
and the Executive Directors. The Board ensures that the team is appropriately
qualified and experienced to discharge its responsibilities.
Each new Director is required to sign and return a letter of appointment which
sets out the key terms of the Director’s appointment. The contents of the letter
of appointment for new Directors are consistent with the ASX Principles.

This statement summarises the roles and responsibilities of the Board of the
Company. The disclosure of the role and responsibility of the Board is designed to
assist those affected by corporate decisions to better understand the respective

AnnualReport2008

18 | Annual Report 2008

Reporting on ASX Principle 1.

have a majority of independent Directors, there is a majority of non executive

A copy of the Director’s Code of Conduct and the Statement of Matters

Directors and the chairman, who is an independent Director, has a casting vote in

Reserved for the Board are available in the corporate governance section

certain circumstances.

of Fortescue’s website.

Principle 2: Board Structure.
ASX Principle 2 states that a company should “have a Board of an effective
composition, size and commitment to adequately discharge its responsibilities
and duties”. Fortescue complies with this principle and associated
recommendations, other than Recommendation 2.1, in the following manner:
Recommendation 2.1: A Board should consist of a majority
of independent directors.
In accordance with the Company’s constitution the Board is to comprise a
minimum of three Directors up to a maximum of twelve Directors. During the

The Board recognises that its current composition is contrary to the ASX Best
Practice Recommendations and the Nominations Committee has an ongoing
brief to review the Board structure with a view to bringing on additional
independent director/s when it is considered desirable. As a post balance date
event the Board has appointed two independent directors, both with extensive
experience in the Australian resources sector and iron ore in particular.
This ensures Fortescue complies with Recommendation 2.1 going forward.
Recommendation 2.2: The chairperson should be an independent director.
Fortescue complies with this recommendation as the Chairman of the Board is
an independent, non executive Director.

year Fortescue had a board of seven Directors with four classified as non

Recommendation 2.3: The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer

executive (one of which represents the substantial shareholder Leucadia National

should not be exercised by the same individual.

Corporation Inc. and is therefore not independent) and three executive Directors.

The positions of Chairman and CEO are not filled by the same person.

While the Board does not comply with Recommendation 2.1 in that it does not
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Recommendation 2.4: The Board should establish a nominations committee.

page 33. The Board has accepted the criteria to assess independence of

The Company has a Nominations Committee which forms part of the

Directors provided by the ASX.

Remuneration Committee. The charter for this committee is included in the
Remuneration Committee charter and is available from Fortescue’s website.
In regards to its nominations role, the Committee is responsible for regularly
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the optimum size
of the Board, the appropriate skills required of Directors and the appropriate

Reporting on ASX Principle 2
A copy of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee Charter is available in the
corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.
Director

Appointed Executive/
Non-Executive

Independent Retiring &
seeking
re-election in
2008

Herb Elliott

2003

Non-Executive

Yes

No

Andrew Forrest (CEO)

2003

Executive

No

No

Graeme Rowley

2003

Executive

No

Yes

Russell Scrimshaw

2003

Executive

No

No

Ken Ambrecht

2003

Non-Executive

Yes

No

Joseph Steinberg

2006

Non-Executive

No

Yes

Geoff Brayshaw

2007

Non-Executive

Yes

No

evaluation methods to review the performance of the Board. The Board has also
adopted a policy known as a Procedure for Selection and Appointment of New
Directors which is a clear statement of intent.
Recommendation 2.5: Provide the information indicated in the Guide to
reporting on Principle 2.
The names of the Directors in office at the date of this report, the year of their
appointment, their independence (or otherwise) and whether they retire at the
2008 annual general meeting are set out in the table below. The detail of each
Director’s tenure and prior corporate experience is provided on pages 31 and 32
The attendance of Board meetings and Committee meetings is detailed on

AnnualReport2008
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Principle 3: Ethical and Responsible
Decision Making.

Directors with commentary on issues relating to professional integrity, conflicts

ASX Principle 3 states that a company should “actively promote ethical and

The broader Employee Code of Conduct provides a guide to adherence of

responsible decision-making”. Fortescue complies with this principle and

appropriate practices so as to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity.

associated recommendations in the following manner:

The document sets out the responsibilities and accountability of individuals for

Recommendation 3.1: Establish a code of conduct to guide the Directors, the

of interest and general duties owed to the Company, stakeholders and creditors.

reporting or investigating reports of unethical practices.

Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and other key executives as to:

Recommendation 3.2: Disclose the policy concerning trading in company

3.1.1

the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the

securities by directors, officers and employees.

Company’s integrity.

The board has established a Securities Trading Policy which outlines the policy

the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting

for Directors and employees when trading in shares of the Company. The policy

and investigating reports of unethical practices.

sets out a brief summary of the law on insider trading and other relevant laws

3.1.2

Fortescue has established a Director Code of Conduct together with a more

and sets out the restrictions on dealing in securities by people who work for,

general Employee Code of Conduct which describes the standards of ethical

or are associated with, Fortescue. The Company’s original trading policy was

behaviour that Directors and key executives are required to maintain.

recently replaced, given the circumstances of Fortescue’s operations has

The Director’s code details a range of issues relating to director’s responsibilities

changed from being a project implementation entity to one now in operations.

including those required under Corporations Law. The code also provides a

It was always intended that the policy would be superseded with one that was

concise summary of the general principles and duties expected of the Company’s

more relevant to the Company’s changed business nature.
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Recommendation 3.3: Provide the information indicated in the Guide to

Recommendation 4.1: Require the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief

reporting on Principle 3.

Financial Officer to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s financial

Fortescue complies with the best practice recommendations of Principle 3.

reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s

A copy of the Director’s Code of Conduct, Employee Code of Conduct and

financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant

Securities Trading Policy is available in the corporate governance section of

accounting standards.

Fortescue’s website.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have provided a letter
to the Board of Directors stating that the Company’s 2008 financial reports:

Reporting on ASX Principle 3.
A summary of the main provisions of the Codes of Conduct for Directors and key
executives and the main provisions of the Securities Trading Policy are available
in the corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.

•

have been maintained properly in accordance with the Corporations Act;

•

are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and

•

present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of
Fortescue’s financial position and performance.

Principle 4: Financial Reporting Integrity.

Recommendation 4.2: The Board should establish an Audit Committee.

ASX Principle 4 states that a company should “have a structure in place

Fortescue has established an audit committee. The structure of the audit

to independently verify and safeguard the integrity of the Company’s

committee is outlined under Recommendation 4.3.

financial reporting”. Fortescue complies with this principle and associated
recommendations in the following manner:
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Recommendation 4.3: To structure the Audit Committee so that it consists of:

year ended 30 June 2008 can be found on page 32. The Audit Committee also

•

only non-executive Directors;

oversees the external auditor relationship including the terms of engagement

•

a majority of independent Directors;

of Fortescue’s external auditor.

•

an independent Chairperson, who is not Chairperson of the Board; and

•

at least three members.

The audit committee comprises three non-executive Directors, all of whom are
considered independent. The Chairman of the Committee is Mr Geoff Brayshaw
who is not the Chairman of the Board and who holds the relevant technical
expertise as a previous audit partner of a major accounting firm.

Reporting on ASX Principle 4.
A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available in the corporate governance
section of Fortescue’s website.

Principle 5: Timely and Balanced Disclosure.
ASX Principle 5 states that a Company should “promote timely and balanced

Recommendation 4.4: The audit committee should have a formal charter.

disclosure of all material matters concerning the Company”. Fortescue complies

The Board has approved an Audit Committee Charter that is available on

with this principle and associated recommendations in the following manner:

Fortescue’s website.

Recommendation 5.1: Establish written policies and procedures designed to

Recommendation 4.5: Provide the information indicated in the Guide to

ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure

reporting on Principle 4.

accountability at a senior management level for that compliance.

The experience of the Audit Committee members, being Mr Brayshaw (current

Fortescue has a Continuous Disclosure Policy, a copy of which is available

Chairman), Mr Elliott and Mr Ambrecht can be found on page 31 and 32. Detail

on Fortescue’s website. The policy provides a broad overview of the reporting

on the number of meetings held and attended by members over the financial

requirements including the statutory environment within which the Company
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operates. It identifies requirements at law under section 674 of the Corporations

Principle 6: Shareholder Rights.

Act and under ASX Listing Rule 3.1 including:

ASX Principle 6 states that a company should “respect the rights of shareholders

•

issues and tests for materiality;

and facilitate the effective exercise of those rights”. Fortescue complies with this

•

the type of information that needs to be disclosed;

principle and associated recommendations, other than Recommendation 6.1, in

•

the process for bringing such information to the attention of the

the following manner:

Company and its nominated reporting officer;
•

the role of the Chief Executive Officer as ultimate decision maker
for Fortescue’s continuous disclosure obligations; and

•

the role of the Board to review all disclosures made during the time
since the previous meeting.

With regard to general disclosures at media briefings or public presentations
only the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer or their delegated person/s are
authorised to issue public comments on behalf of the Company or provide
journalists and members of the investment community with information.
Reporting on ASX Principle 5.

Recommendation 6.1: Design and disclose a communication strategy to
promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective
participation at general meetings.
The Company’s communication strategy is to encourage a two way
communication channel with shareholders. The Company produces a newsletter
from time to time which is available on the website and email alerts of Company
news and photograph updates are sent out regularly. The Company also ensures
it produces extensive quarterly reports which are provided to the ASX and posted
to its website. Senior executives of the Company make regular presentations at
industry forums and conferences.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy Is available in the corporate
governance section of Fortescue’s website.
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The underlying shareholder communications policy is based on the objective that:

site to facilitate the flow of information to stakeholders. An important recent

•

Fortescue communicates effectively with its shareholders and will give

development has been the creation of an email alert option whereby people

shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable information

can register through the web site and be set up to receive timely correspondence

about Fortescue and its corporate proposals; and

and e-newsletters from the Company.

•

Fortescue recognises the importance of shareholder participation
in general meetings and supports and encourages that participation.

Recommendation 6.2: Request the external auditor to attend the annual
general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk.
ASX Principle 7 states that a company should “establish a sound system
of risk oversight and management and internal control”. Fortescue complies
with this principle and associated recommendations in the following manner:

The Company ensures that its external auditor is in attendance at its Annual

Recommendation 7.1: The Board or appropriate Board committee should

General Meeting and is available to answer questions regarding the audit

establish policies on risk oversight and management.

process and preparation of financial reports.

The Company continues to develop its risk management systems and policy.
A thorough review process consistent with the Australian / New Zealand risk

Reporting on ASX Principle 6.
The Company is building an in-house communications business unit with
broad expertise in stakeholder relations. A communications manager has been
appointed to lead this team and to further develop a comprehensive stakeholder
communications policy. The Company has also recently upgraded its web

management standard AS/NZS4360:2004 has been carried out, covering the
port, rail and mine construction and operations. A register of identified risks
and ratings thereof has been completed and plans established in mitigation
of the material business risks.
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During the year the company received specialist advice from the Risk

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have provided

Management team at accountancy firm BDO and a report was provided to the

a statement to the Board of Directors stating that the Company’s financial

Board outlining a “top down” review of the areas within the company that require

reports were based on the existence of a sound system of risk oversight

further attention. Since reviewing that report, the Board has retained the services

and management and internal control.

of MYR Consulting which is currently doing a “bottom up” complete divisional
review of the Company’s risk management structure and reporting systems with
an objective of developing an integrated, company wide, risk management policy
document and reporting system.

Recommendation 7.3: Provide the information indicated in the Guide to
reporting on Principle 7.
The Company is in the process of developing a comprehensive risk management
policy document. The charter of the Company’s audit committee was broadened

Recommendation 7.2: The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial

last year to include the oversight of the development and then subsequent

Officer should state in writing to the Board that:

monitoring of the risk management policy. The adoption of the AS/NZS4360:2004

7.2.1

the statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation

4.1 (the integrity of the financial statements) is founded on a sound system of risk

will ensure consistency across the various business units and MYR Consulting is
assisting the Audit Committee through the development phase.

management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies

Reporting on ASX Principle 7.

adopted by the Board; and

A comprehensive risk management policy document is currently being

7.2.2

the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control

developed and as such, is not yet available on the website.

system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.
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Principle 8: Enhanced Performance.

education courses, this is paid for by Fortescue where appropriate. In addition,

ASX Principle 8 states that a company should “fairly review and actively

management provides presentations on industry-related matters and new

encourage enhanced Board and management effectiveness”.

developments with the potential to affect Fortescue.

Fortescue complies with this principle and associated recommendations
in the following manner:

Reporting on ASX Principle 8.
Fortescue is continuing to develop its Board and executive evaluation processes.

Recommendation 8.1: Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the

At this stage there is not a formal policy or charter in place but it remains the

Board, its committees and individual directors, and key executives.

Company’s objective to develop such a policy and to make this available on

The Board evaluates the performance of Directors and executives as required.

Fortescue’s website.

The Chairman and the CEO are responsible for ensuring that each new Board
member is inducted and that they have every opportunity to increase their

Principle 9: Remuneration.

knowledge about the Company to ensure that they can participate and contribute

ASX Principle 9 states that a company should “ensure that the level and

in an effective manner to the Board deliberations.

composition of remuneration is sufficient and reasonable and its relationship

Procedures are in place to allow any Director or committee of the Board to seek
external professional advice as considered necessary, at the Company’s expense.
All Directors are expected to maintain the skills required to discharge their
obligations to Fortescue. Directors are encouraged to undertake continuing
professional education. Where this involves industry seminars and approved

to corporate and individual performance is defined”.

Fortescue complies with this principle and associated recommendations in the
following manner:
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Recommendation 9.1: Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s

Recommendation 9.2: The Board should establish a remuneration committee.

remuneration policies to enable investors to understand (i) the costs and benefits

The Company has a Remuneration & Nomination Committee and its charter is

of those policies and (ii) the link between remuneration paid to Directors and key

available on the website.

executives and corporate performance.

The Company complies with the recommendation that the Committee consists

Details of remuneration policies and remuneration paid to the Company’s Directors

of at least three people with the majority being independent Directors.

and to its five highest paid executives are disclosed within the remuneration report

The Chairman of committee is Mr Elliott and the other members are Mr Steinberg,

of the Annual Report.

Mr Ambrecht and the CEO Mr Forrest.

During the year Fortescue completed a comprehensive review of its remuneration

The Company’s objective as stated in the charter is to ensure that all senior

structure whereby all employee salaries were reviewed to market to ensure there

executives including the CEO and executive Directors have their remuneration

was appropriate alignment with industry benchmarks. Independent comparative

packages reviewed on a regular basis. These reviews aim to ensure the balance

market information was provided to Fortescue’s HR department and a consultative
process was undertaken with each employee to ensure accurate job description

between base pay, incentive schemes and superannuation plans are appropriate
to Fortescue’s circumstances and goals.

and salary alignment to the 75% quartile. Also, a clearly articulated and targeted
incentive program was introduced where every employee is capable of receiving a

Recommendation 9.3: Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive

bonus payment in addition to their base salary. The bonus is only triggered on the

Directors’ remuneration from that of executives.

achievement of certain individual and company performance targets. Details of the

Details of remuneration policies and remuneration paid to the Company’s

target structure are provided in the remuneration report within the financial section

executive Directors and non-executive Directors are disclosed within the

of this report. However, the key driver of performance will be the production and

remuneration report of the Annual Report. Non-executive Directors do not

export of “good” tonnes through the mine, rail and shipping divisions.

receive performance related compensation.

While there were no options issued in 2008, in prior years there have been
employees issued with share options and the details of those provided to the
five highest paid executives of the Company have been identified within the
remuneration section of this Annual Report. The terms and conditions of issue
require the recipients to remain as employees for at least four years before they
become entitled to their full allocation.
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Recommendation 9.4: Ensure that payment of equity-based executive

Principle 10: Interest of Stakeholders.

remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by

ASX Principle 10 states that a company should “recognise the legal and

shareholders.

other obligations of all legitimate stakeholders”. Fortescue complies with

The Fortescue Metals Group employee share option plan “ESOP” was approved

this principle and associated recommendations in the following manner:

by shareholders at the 2005 AGM and the Performance Right Plan was approved
at the 2006 AGM. Notwithstanding, there were no equity based remuneration
allotments made during the 2008 financial year.

Recommendation 10.1: Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide
compliance with legal and other obligations to legitimate stakeholders.
The Company has established a Code of Conduct as a guide for compliance

Recommendation 9.5: Provide the information indicated in the Guide to

with the legal and social obligations owed by Fortescue to all stakeholders.

reporting on Principle 9.

The Company is active in the direct engagement of relevant stakeholders and

The experience of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee members

this has been an important part of progressing the development of Fortescue’s

being Mr Elliott, Mr Ambrecht, Mr Steinberg and Mr Forrest can be found on

environmental and native title approval processes together with the enhancement

page 31 and 32. Detail on the number of meetings held and attended by

of its general community relations position.

members over the financial year ended 30 June 2008 can be found on page 33.
Reporting on ASX Principle 10.
Reporting on ASX Principle 9.

A summary of the main provisions of the Code of Conduct is available in the

A copy of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee Charter is available

corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.

in the corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.
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This financial report covers both Fortescue Metals Group Ltd as an individual
entity (the “Company”) and the consolidated entity consisting of Fortescue Metals
Group Ltd and its subsidiaries (“Fortescue”). The financial report is presented in
the Australian currency.
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:
Level 2
87 Adelaide Terrace
East Perth
Western Australia 6004

A description of the nature of Fortescue’s operations and its principal activities is
included in the Directors’ Report on pages 31-37, which is not part of this financial
report. The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 16
September 2008. The Company has the power to amend and reissue the financial
report. Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate
reporting is timely, complete, and available globally at minimum cost to the
Company. All press releases, financial reports and other information are available
on the Company’s website at www.fmgl.com.au.
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Directors’ Report
Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (“Fortescue”),
consisting of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (the “Company”) and the entities it
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008.

Names, qualifications, independence status, experience, special
responsibilities and other directorships
Mr Herb Elliott AC, MBE – Chairman - Age 70

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and until the date
of this report are as follows:

Non-Executive
Mr Herb Elliott – Chairman
Mr Ken Ambrecht
Mr Joseph Steinberg
Mr Geoff Brayshaw - appointed 1 July 2007

Mr Elliott was elected a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company
in October 2003, Deputy Chairman in May 2005 and Chairman on 16 March
2007. Mr Elliott is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr Elliott was Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee until 5 July 2007. Mr Elliott is also Chairman of
Telstra Foundation Limited and has been a Director of Ansell Limited and Pacific
Dunlop Ltd. He is also Chairman of the private corporate health company Global
Corporate Challenge. Previous executive roles include President of PUMA North
America. Mr Elliott is the former inaugural Chairman of the National Australia Day
Committee and was a Commissioner on the Australian Broadcasting Commission.

Executive
Mr Andrew Forrest
Mr Graeme Rowley
Mr Russell Scrimshaw
Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

Mr Andrew Forrest – Chief Executive Officer – Age 46
Mr Forrest has been Chief Executive Officer of the Company since July 2003, was
Interim Chairman from then until May 2005 and is a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr Forrest is Non-Executive Chairman of Poseidon Nickel Ltd and
the Australian Children’s Trust. His previous roles include Chief Executive Officer
and Deputy Chairman of Anaconda Nickel Limited (now Minara Resources
Ltd), Chairman of the Murrin Murrin Joint Venture, Non-Executive Chairman of
Moly Mines Ltd, Non-Executive Chairman of Arafura Pearls Ltd, Non-Executive
Chairman of Siberia Mining Corporation Limited, Director of the West Australian
Chamber of Minerals and Energy and President of Athletics Australia. Mr Forrest
has extensive experience in the mining sector with specialist expertise in large
scale project finance and implementation.

Mr Graeme Rowley AM – Executive Director – Age 68
Mr Rowley has been Executive Director Operations of the Company since
October 2003. Previously he was an executive with Rio Tinto plc holding
senior positions in Hamersley Iron and Argyle Diamonds. Mr Rowley’s previous
directorships have included the Dampier Port Authority, the Pilbara Development
Commission, the Council for the West Pilbara College of TAFE and the Western
Australian State Government’s Technical Advisory Council. Mr Rowley has
extensive experience in operational management of both iron ore ship loading
facilities and heavy haul railway within the unique Pilbara environment.
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Mr Russell Scrimshaw – Executive Director – Age 59

Mr Joseph Steinberg – Non-Executive Director – Age 64

Mr Scrimshaw was a Non-Executive Director of the Company from October
2003 to June 2005, at which time he became Executive Director Commercial. Mr
Scrimshaw was a board member of Commonwealth Properties Ltd, EDS Australia,
Mobilesoft Ltd, Telecom New Zealand Australia Pty Ltd, the Garvan Institute and
Athletics Australia. He is also an Associate Member of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants. Mr Scrimshaw previously held senior executive
positions within the Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Optus, Alcatel IBM and
Amdahl USA.

Mr Steinberg was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company in August
2006 and he sits on the Remuneration Committee. Mr Steinberg has been
President since January 1979 and a Director since December 1978 of Leucadia
National Corporation Inc. (“Leucadia”) of the United States of America. Mr
Steinberg was invited onto the Fortescue Board to represent Leucadia following
its investment in Fortescue in August 2006. Mr Steinberg is also President and
Director of The FINOVA Group, Inc., Jordan Industries, Inc. and Chairman of
HomeFed Corporation. He is a Trustee of New York University and serves on
several non-profit boards. Mr. Steinberg served as a director of White Mountains
Insurance Group, Ltd. from June 2001 through to June 2005. Mr Steinberg
received an AB in government in 1966 from New York University and an MBA
from Harvard Business School in 1970. He served in the United States Peace
Corps from 1966 to 1968.

Mr Ken Ambrecht – Non-Executive Director – Age 62
Mr Ambrecht is a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company and is a
member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr Ambrecht is the Principal of KCA Associates LLC., an investment
banking and advisory firm. He is a Non-Executive Director of American Financial
Corporation Inc and Dominion Petroleum Ltd. Mr Ambrecht was previously
a Managing Director at First Albany Capital and the Royal Bank of Canada
following a 25 year career at Lehman Brothers in New York as Managing Director
in the capital markets division.

Mr Geoff Brayshaw AM – Non-Executive Director – Age 58
Mr Brayshaw was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1
July 2007 and was appointed Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee on 5 July 2007. Mr Brayshaw was formerly an audit partner with
a large international accounting firm and retired in June 2005. He has held a
number of positions in commerce and professional bodies including National
President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 2002, Independent Director
and Audit Committee Chairman of Fortron Insurance Group, Board member of the
Small Business Development Corporation and Chairman of a Trustee Company
related to an Aboriginal Corporation. Mr Brayshaw is also a Non-Executive
Director of Poseidon Nickel Limited (since February 2008).
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board
committee held during the financial year ended 30 June 2008, and the number of
meetings attended by each Director were:

committee meetings
Board
Meetings

Audit

Remuneration

Director

No. of Circulating
Resolutions Eligible

No. of Circulating
Resolutions Executed

Mr Herb Elliott

3

3

Mr Andrew Forrest

3

3

Mr Graeme Rowley

3

3

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

3

3

Director

a

b

a

b

a

b

Mr Ken Ambrecht

3

3

Mr Herb Elliott

6

6

2

2

2

2

Mr Joseph Steinberg

3

3

Mr Andrew Forrest

6

6

-

-

2

2

Mr Geoff Brayshaw

3

3

Mr Graeme Rowley

6

6

-

-

-

-

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

6

6

-

-

-

-

Mr Ken Ambrecht

6

6

2

2

1

2

Mr Joseph Steinberg

6

6

-

-

2

2

Mr Geoff Brayshaw

6

6

2

2

-

-

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee
during the year
- = Not a member of the relevant committee

The Remuneration Committee also acts as the Nomination Committee.
In addition to the scheduled Board and Committee meetings a number of matters
were resolved by circulating Board Resolutions.

COMPANY SECRETARIES’ PARTICULARS
The following people held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the
financial year.

Mr Rod Campbell – Age 48
Mr Campbell was appointed Company Secretary of the Company in November
2004. Prior to that time Mr Campbell was State Manager Western Australia for
RaboBank Australia Ltd and before that was a Senior Manager with State Bank
NSW Ltd. Mr Campbell holds a Bachelor of Agricultural Economics from the
University of New England and a Diploma from the Securities Institute of Australia.

Mr Christopher Catlow – Age 47
Mr Catlow has been Chief Financial Officer of the Company since September
2003 and Company Secretary since November 2003. Mr Catlow has extensive
experience in the resources sector, having previously been a Director of
Consolidated Rutile Ltd and Sierra Rutile Ltd. He was also Executive General
Manager Finance of Iluka Resources Limited and Chief Financial Officer of
Energy Equity Corporation Limited and Gold Fields Australia Pty Ltd. Mr Catlow is
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.
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Principal Activities
The principal activity of Fortescue during the course of the financial year was the
development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project. On 15 May 2008
Fortescue commenced loading its first iron ore shipment. No significant changes
in the nature of the activities of Fortescue occurred during the year.

Rail Operations:
• completion of rail earthworks in March 2008;
• completion of track laying in April 2008;
• first train from Cloudbreak to the port on 29 April 2008.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The consolidated results from operations are as follows.

Operating loss after income tax
Total assets
Net assets/(deficit)

Port Operations:
• the first train load of product delivered to the port on 6 April 2008;
• the commissioning of the in-loading and out-loading circuits in April 2008;
• the loading of the commercial first ship on 15 May 2008.

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

(2,516,238)

(192,256)

5,176,591

3,512,769

(1,639,684)

372,689

Fortescue’s primary focus during the 2008 financial year was the completion of
the construction phase of its integrated mine, rail and port project in the Pilbara
region of Western Australia. The key milestones achieved during the period were
the commencement of commercial mining in October 2007, the first train loaded
with Cloudbreak ore completing the journey from the mine to Port Hedland in April
2008 and the first ship load of product departing Fortescue’s port facility in
May 2008.
Since May 2008, the focus has been on ramping up production levels as the
operations move into full swing. An after balance date event was the achievement
of “Project Completion” in July 2008. The significance of Project Completion is
explained on page 35.
In summary the highlights over the 2008 financial year were:
Mine Operations:
• commercial mining commenced in October 2007;
• the commissioning of the ore processing plant in April 2008;
• the loading of the first train at the mine site in April 2008.

Exploration:
• estimation of a 1.7 billion tonne inferred resource for the Solomon project;
• progression of drilling for the Glacier Valley magnetite JV with Baosteel.
Community:
• the VTEC program celebrated the graduation of the first 20 students in July 2007;
• Fortescue launched its Hedland housing program in August 2007.
Corporate:
• A$504 million equity raising in July 2007;
• a 10 for 1 share split approved and enacted in December 2007; and
• the opening of Fortescue’s first international office in Shanghai in October 2007.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company to members since
the end of the previous financial year and the Directors do not recommend the
payment of a dividend in respect of the current financial year.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
Fortescue’s exploration and mining activities are governed by a range of
environmental legislation and regulations. During this financial year, activities
at all Fortescue sites have increased. Monitoring is conducted at these sites to
ensure that activities continue to operate in accordance with the environmental
regulations. Our performance has been within the requirements of our
environment licences. Fortescue is also proactively working to ensure that the
environmental impact from the ground disturbance activities such as construction

fortescue metals group

ANNUAL Report 2008 | 35

www.fmgl.com.au

and mining is minimal. Proactive techniques employed include clearing controls
to limit vegetation disturbance, trapping and relocation of priority fauna species,
progressive rehabilitation and education and training on environmental issues for
all supervisors and managers. Through these and other techniques, Fortescue
is aiming to raise environmental awareness within our activities and ensure we
consistently meet high standards of environmental management.
The recent introduction of the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act
2007 establishes a mandatory corporate reporting system for greenhouse gas
emissions, energy consumption and production from 1 July 2008. Fortescue will
also be subject to the reporting obligations of the Energy Efficiency Opportunity
Act 2006. This Act requires certain entities to assess their energy use and report
publicly on the results.
Fortescue is currently establishing the necessary systems to enable full
compliance with the requirements of this Act and will be able to detail this
information in future reports once a full year of mining operations has occurred.

The increase in contributed equity is explained in the Statements of Changes in
Equity. The decrease in net cash is explained in the Cash Flow Statements.
Other significant changes in the state of affairs of Fortescue are described below:
• Fortescue announced a major new resource discovery at its Solomon Project
with the estimation of an Inferred Resource of 1.014 billion tonnes (56% Fe) at
Solomon’s Serenity Deposit and 700 million tonnes (56% Fe) at the Solomon
East Deposit;
• On 19 December 2007 Fortescue undertook a reorganisation of capital by way
of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully
paid ordinary shares; and
• On 15 May 2008 Fortescue commenced loading its first commercial shipment
of iron ore from the “Herb Elliott Port” at Port Hedland for delivery to major
Chinese customer Baosteel.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

Significant changes in the state of affairs of Fortescue during the financial year
as part of the development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project
were an increase in contributed equity of $503,929,000 (from $574,003,000
to $1,077,932,000) and a decrease in cash assets of $1,489,964,000 (from
$1,682,201,000 to $192,237,000). Net cash received from the increase in
contributed equity coupled with the utilisation of available cash reserves was
used primarily for the continuing development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and
Infrastructure Project.

Project Completion
On 18 July 2008 Fortescue received independent sign off certifying the
achievement of “Project Completion” for the first stage of its integrated mine, rail
and port facilities in the Pilbara region of Western Australia. Project Completion
includes operations having mined, railed and shipped two million tonnes within a
four week period, which has been verified by the Project’s Independent Engineer,
Behre Dolbear Australia. Achieving Project Completion satisfies certain covenants
within Fortescue’s financial arrangements and allows the Company to pursue
its stated ambition to expand and further develop growth projects across the
Chichester Ranges.

The net increase in borrowings of $3,395,037,000 during the 2008 financial year is
largely due to the $3,466,134,000 (tax-effected $2,426,294,000) revaluation of the
Subordinated Loan Note in line with changes in management estimates, prevailing
market conditions and economic forecasts. This fair value adjustment to the
Subordinated Loan Note was the primary cause of Fortescue’s 2008 loss attributable
to members of $2,516,238,000. This loss has reduced total equity in excess of
the increase in contributed equity in 2008, decreasing net assets of Fortescue by
$2,012,373,000 (from $372,689,000 to a net deficit of $1,639,684,000).

Cyclone George Inquiry
Fortescue was served with a notice by Worksafe following an investigation into
the Cyclone George incident in March last year. Fortescue has been charged
with one offence and its subsidiary, The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd (“TPI”),
with 17 offences under the Occupational Safety & Health Act 1984. The charges
each carry a maximum penalty of $400,000 valuing Fortescue’s maximum penalty
at $7,200,000. Fortescue has handed the matter to its solicitors and will be
defending the charges.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

fortescue metals group
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Proposed Issue of Preference Shares
On 30 September 2008, the Company held an Extraordinary General Meeting to
seek shareholder approval for an amendment to Fortescue’s constitution to allow
for the issuance of preference shares. All resolutions were passed unanimously
at the meeting. Following the approval, Fortescue processed an application for
preference shares for an aggregate of A$140 million.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
In the opinion of the Directors it may prejudice the interests of the Company
to provide additional information (except as reported in this Directors’ Report),
in relation to likely developments and business strategies of the operations
of Fortescue and the expected results of those operations in subsequent
financial years.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares and options issued by the
Company, as notified by the Directors to the Australian Securities Exchange in
accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report
is as follows:
Director
Mr Herb Elliott
Mr Andrew Forrest
Mr Graeme Rowley

Ordinary Shares
2,540,689
1,005,493,300
19,515,690

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

8,000,000

Mr Ken Ambrecht

6,283,833

Mr Joseph Steinberg
Mr Geoff Brayshaw

No Directors held options during the year.

277,986,000
17,225

SHARE OPTIONS
Options granted to Directors and Officers of the Company
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company did not grant options
to Directors or Officers of the Company.
Unissued Shares Under Options
The number of options on issue in the Company at the date of this report is as
follows. All of these options are unlisted and over the ordinary shares of the Company.
Date Options
Granted

Expiry Date

Issue Price of
Shares

Number under
Option

1 June 2005

31 December 2009

$0.27

8,813,380

25 January 2006

25 January 2011

$0.57

2,656,250

1 June 2006

1 June 2011

$0.70

3,729,530

2 October 2006

30 June 2010

$0.82

750,000

9 October 2006

30 June 2010

$0.88

200,000

28 October 2006

30 June 2010

$0.93

200,000

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s
employment. These options were issued pursuant to the Fortescue Metals Group’s
Incentive Option Scheme and have been allotted to individuals on condition
that they serve specified time periods as an employee of the Company before
becoming entitled to exercise the options. These options do not entitle the holder to
participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Shares Issued on Exercise of Options
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares
as a result of the exercise of options as follows (there were no amounts unpaid on
the shares issued):
Date Options
Granted

Number Vested

Number of Shares
Issued

Issue Price of
Shares

1 June 2005

-

367,550

$2.67

25 January 2006

-

6,250

$5.69

1 June 2006

-

63,047

$7.03

2 October 2006

-

-

$8.22

9 October 2006

-

-

$8.78

28 October 2006

-

-

$9.29

1 June 2005

4,346,593

3,336,620

$0.27

25 January 2006

935,552

687,500

$0.57

1 June 2006

1,366,421

615,000

$0.70

2 October 2006

274,658

250,000

$0.82

9 October 2006

54,932

-

$0.88

28 October 2006

54,932

-

$0.93

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INDEMINITIES AND INSURANCE
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has paid premiums to
insure the Directors and Officers of Fortescue.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or
criminal proceedings that may be brought against the Officers in their capacity as
Officers of Fortescue, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by
the Officers in connection with such proceedings, other than where such liabilities
arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the Officers or the
improper use by the Officers of their position or of information to gain advantage
for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to Fortescue. It is not
possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance
against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities. Conditions of the policy
also preclude disclosure to third parties of the amount paid for the policy.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
A
B
C
D
E

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Details of remuneration
Service agreements
Share based remuneration
Additional information

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as
required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.
A PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF
REMUNERATION
Key Management Personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company and other executives. Key
Management Personnel and the five most highly remunerated executive officers
for the Company and Fortescue, in accordance with S300A of the Corporations
Act 2001, are defined on page 41.
Fortescue’s remuneration strategy is designed to build a performance oriented
culture and attract, retain and motivate its employees, encouraging them to meet
their full potential. In line with this strategy, Fortescue provides a competitive base
salary and bonus structure, and an opportunity to participate in the success of
the Company as a shareholder.
The objective of Fortescue’s remuneration strategy is to ensure that reward for
performance is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The strategy
seeks to align employee and executive reward with the achievement of strategic
objectives and results that contribute to the creation of value for shareholders.
The remuneration strategy is based on the following principles:
• High levels of employee share ownership will drive an alignment of employee
and shareholder interests;
• Remuneration and reward will be competitive and reasonable within the sector
that Fortescue operates;

• Performance linkage and alignment of executive remuneration to the
performance of Fortescue and the individual executive; and
• Transparency in terms of disclosure and compliance with relevant legislative
requirements.
Fortescue has structured a remuneration framework that is market competitive
and complementary to the reward strategy of the organisation.
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration
Committee operates in accordance with its charter as approved by the Board.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr Herb Elliott and is comprised
in the majority by Independent Non-Executive Directors. During the year the
Remuneration Committee met twice.
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to provide assistance and
recommendations to the Board in fulfilling its Corporate Governance
responsibilities related to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Executive Director remuneration;
Senior executive remuneration;
Short term and long term incentive plans;
Matters relating to Fortescue’s recruitment, retention and termination policies;
CEO succession planning; and
Nomination and review of applicants for a Board Director position.

The Committee may engage independent external consultants and advisors to
provide any necessary information to assist in the discharge of its responsibilities.
The remuneration structure that has been adopted by Fortescue consists of the
following components:
• Fixed Remuneration (“FR”) being annual salary;
• Salary Sacrifice Share Plan (“SSSP”); and
• Incentive Schemes, comprising:
i. Fortescue’s High Performance Bonus Plan (“FHPBP”) being an annual bonus
available to all employees and executives, able to be taken as cash or equity;
ii. Performance Rights Plan (“PRP”); and
iii.Fortescue Metals Group’s Incentive Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”)
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Fixed Remuneration
Fixed remuneration (“FR”) consists of base remuneration (which is calculated
on a total cost basis and includes FBT charges to employee benefits including
motor vehicles), as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds.
Fixed Remuneration is targeted at 75th percentile of the market as defined by
a comparator group of ASX listed companies in addition to considering the
individual contribution and competence levels.
Salary Sacrifice Share Plan
Further to Fortescue’s aim of encouraging employee share ownership, all
Fortescue employees have an opportunity to participate in the Salary Sacrifice
Share Plan (“SSSP”). The SSSP was introduced in July 2008. Employees
nominate the amount of pre-tax salary that they wish to salary sacrifice per annum
(up to 50%). In addition, employees are able to nominate to sacrifice up to 100
per cent of any future bonuses.
Incentive Schemes
Fortescue’s current incentive based remuneration structure is focused on short to
medium term incentives and is designed to reward employees and executives for
meeting or exceeding their financial and personal objectives.
Fortescue High Performance Bonus Plan
No bonuses were provided during the 2008 financial year. During the 2008
financial year a new Fortescue High Performance Bonus Plan (“FHPBP”) was
introduced. The FHPBP is better aligned to shareholder interests of capital growth
through the setting of clear and structured operational performance criteria. It is
also considered to be better aligned to program participant’s interests through
providing a clear structure for earnings rewards and flexibility by providing the
option of receiving reward through cash or equity. The FHPBP is available to all
permanent full time and part time Fortescue employees.
As no bonuses were provided during the 2008 financial year a one-off bonus
scheme will run from the date that Fortescue achieved First Ore on Ship on 15
May 2008 through to 31 December 2008. The ongoing bonus scheme will operate
in financial years, from 1 July to 30 June, and begins for the 2009 financial year.
This means that for the period 1 July 2008 to 31 December 2008 employees
will be eligible for two bonus awards, being a combination of the one-off bonus

scheme and the first half of the 2009 financial year ongoing bonus scheme.
The bonus under the FHPBP for the one-off bonus scheme and the ongoing
bonus scheme is made up of four components (outlined below) that give
employees the potential to earn up to 100 percent of their base salary each year
as a bonus:
•
•
•
•

Individual performance bonus (up to 10%);
Team performance bonus (15%);
High performance company bonus (up to 25%); and
Outstanding individual performance bonus (up to 50%).

The key aims of the FHPBP are to:
• Assist in driving and achieving business objectives;
• Support Fortescue’s culture of high performance;
• Assist in the attraction of high calibre people and in retaining our best people;
and
• Create the opportunity for all Fortescue employees to become shareholders in
the Company.
For a bonus to be awarded, Fortescue must have achieved its business targets
and key performance indicators (“KPI’s”). Business targets and KPI’s are set
on an annual basis prior to the commencement of the performance year by the
CEO in conjunction with the Board. KPI’s and business targets are specific to the
bonus category. The bonus becomes “live” following shipment by the Company
of a pre-determined amount of ‘GOOD’ tonnes of iron ore.
‘GOOD’ tonnes are those that are:
• Extracted, transported and shipped safely, with respect to the environment and
our values and commitments regarding cultural heritage;
• Within financial targets; and
• Within quality specifications.
At the end of the performance year the CEO makes recommendations to the
Board for bonus awards for his direct reports based on the achievement of
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targets in each of the four bonus categories. For all other employees a one up
manager approval applies with final CEO approval prior to the finalisation and
payment of any award.

the Board. Under the PRP the minimum vesting period will be three (3) years and
the maximum vesting period will be seven (7) years. Any Performance Rights not
vested within seven years will lapse.

All employees and executives have the option to take the annual bonus in cash,
superannuation or deferred shares or a combination of each. If the employee or
executive elects to take the bonus as deferred shares, they will be granted an
equivalent bonus value in the form of shares. Shares are held in trust on behalf
of the employee or executive. The employee or executive will however have
beneficial ownership of the shares and earn dividends on the shares. Subject
to any restrictions under the Fortescue share trading policy the employee or
executive is able to trade those shares.

No Performance Rights have been issued by the Company to date. The PRP
is currently not considered a key platform in the remuneration and retention
strategy of Fortescue. Management believes the current FHPBP combined with
non-vested options already issued to key employees and executives is achieving
Fortescue’s required remuneration and retention outcomes.

The value of any bonus taken as shares will also be matched by share rights of
up to 1 share right for each share. The level of matching will be determined on an
annual basis prior to the end of the performance year by the CEO in conjunction
with the Board. Share rights are subject to time based vesting and will vest to the
employee or executive in accordance with the following time frame:
• Up to one third of the original issue after 24 months;
• Up to two thirds of the original issue after 36 months; and
• Up to 100% of the original issue after 48 months.
Upon vesting the employee or executive will have beneficial ownership of the
shares and the shares will commence earning dividends.
Irrespective of vesting periods all share rights will be forfeited if an employee
resigns or sells the base award of shares.
PRP
Under the PRP, participants are offered an award of rights to acquire ordinary
shares in the Company (referred to here as “Performance Rights”). The offer of
Performance Rights under the PRP takes the form of a conditional entitlement to
issued shares in the Company for nil consideration at the end of the applicable
performance period subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions. The
vesting of the Performance Rights will be over a period that is consistent with the
realisation of the long term strategic objectives of the Company as approved by

FMGIOS
The change in share price is the key performance criteria for the FMGIOS as the
realised value arising from options issued under the FMGIOS is dependent upon
an increase in the share price to above the exercise price of the options.
No options were issued during the 2008 financial year. Similarly to the PRP the
FMGIOS is currently not considered a key future platform in the remuneration
and retention strategy of Fortescue. Management believes the current
FHPBP combined with non-vested options already issued to key employees
and executives in previous financial years is achieving Fortescue’s required
remuneration and retention outcomes.
A table of unissued shares under option, including expiry date and number of
options yet to be exercised, is included in the Directors’ Report on page 36.
Options previously issued remain effective for the short to medium term retention
of key Fortescue employees and executives. Available options expire between
31 December 2009 and 1 June 2011.
Remuneration structure
The Remuneration Committee considers that the above remuneration structure is
generating the desired outcomes, evidenced by:
• high retention of overall employees, key management personnel and other
executives;
• the achievement of targeted construction and production goals; and
• the continued strong increase in the Company’s share price during the 2008
financial year.
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Consequences of performance on shareholders wealth
In considering Fortescue’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the
Board has regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year
and the previous four financial years.

Revenue

2008
AIFRS
’000
$460,325

2007
AIFRS
’000
$335,252

2005
AIFRS
’000
$3,438

2004
AGAAP
’000
$4,267

($2,146)

($4,519)

$602

-

-

-

-

-

$ Change in share price

$8.52*

$2.43*

$0.66*

$0.29*

$0.03*

% Change in share price

252%

256%

228%

469%

143%

Net profit/(loss)
Dividends paid

($2,516,238) ($192,256)

2006
AIFRS
’000
$11,830

* = Movements have been adjusted to provide reasonable comparative amounts in light of Fortescue’s
reorganisation of capital in December 2007, whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten
fully paid ordinary shares.

Non-Executive Directors
Total remuneration for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by
shareholders at the 2007 AGM, is not to exceed $750,000 per annum and is set
based on advice from external advisors with reference to the fees paid to other
Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies. Non-Executive Directors’
base fees are presently up to $80,000 per annum.
The Chairman’s base fee is $162,000 per annum. The Chairman also receives an
additional $10,000 per annum being fees in recognition of his membership of the
Audit Committee and position as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. NonExecutive Directors do not receive performance related remuneration. Directors’
fees cover all main Board activities. Non-Executive Directors who sit on a Board
Committee receive an additional $4,000 per annum per committee and the chair
of a committee, other than the Audit Committee, receives $6,000 per annum. The
Chairman of the Audit Committee receives an additional $15,000 per annum.
Non-Executive Directors do not receive share options. Non-Executive Directors
may opt each year to receive a percentage of their remuneration in the
Company’s shares under the Non-Executive Director Share plan (“NEDSP”),
which would be acquired on market. All Non-Executive Directors participated in

the arrangement during 2008 except for Mr Joseph Steinberg who elects not to
receive any Directors’ fees or Board Committee fees.
Executive Directors
Executive Director Fees are disclosed in part B of the Remuneration Report.
B DETAILS OF REMUNERATION
Amount of remuneration
The key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party
Disclosures) of the Company and Fortescue who have authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity includes the
Directors and the following executive officers as set out below:
Directors:
Herb Elliott
Andrew Forrest
Graeme Rowley
Russell Scrimshaw
Ken Ambrecht
Joseph Steinberg
Geoff Brayshaw – appointed 1 July 2007
Executive Officers:
Alan Watling – Chief Operating Officer
Gordon Cowe – Director of Projects – appointed 1 July 2008
Chris Catlow – Chief Financial Officer
The five named Company executives and relevant Fortescue executives who
receive the highest remuneration are set out below:
Graeme Rowley – Executive Director Operations (equal value)
Russell Scrimshaw – Executive Director Commercial (equal value)
Alan Watling – Chief Operating Officer
Chris Catlow – Chief Financial Officer
John Blanning – Head of Mining Operations
William Ramsey –Expansion Project Specialist
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director, other Key Management Personnel and other executives of the Company and
Fortescue are:
Short-term
Salary &
fees $

Cash
bonus $

Nonmonetary
benefits $

163,974

-

-

Postemployment

Other long
term
Long
service
leave $

Termination
benefits $

Options
(A) $

Total $

-

-

-

172,000

Total $

Superannuation
benefits $

163,974

8,026

Share-based
payments

Proportion of
Value of
remuneration
options as
performance
proportion of
related %
remuneration %

Directors of Fortescue Metals
Group Ltd
Non-Executive
Mr H Elliott (Chairperson)

2008

-

-

2007

-

-

-

-

85,766

-

-

-

85,766

-

-

Mr K Ambrecht

2008

84,000

-

-

84,000

-

-

-

-

84,000

-

-

2007

318,295

-

-

318,295

-

-

-

-

318,295

-

-

Mr J Steinberg

2008

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2008

86,364

-

-

86,364

8,636

-

-

-

95,000

-

-

2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2008

100,000

-

88,648

188,648

10,000

-

-

-

198,648

-

-

2007

101,000

110,000

-

211,000

10,100

-

-

-

221,100

50%

-

2008

472,727

-

-

472,727

47,273

-

-

-

520,000

-

-

2007

423,153

380,0001

-

803,153

42,315

-

-

-

845,468

45%

-

2008

472,727

-

-

472,727

47,273

-

-

-

520,000

-

-

2007

373,617

252,2941

-

625,911

36,383

-

-

-

662,294

38%

-

Mr G Brayshaw –
(appointed 1 July 2007)
Executive
Mr A Forrest, CEO
Mr G Rowley, Executive
Director Operations
Mr R Scrimshaw, Executive
Director Commercial

1
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED) continued

Short-term

Postemployment

Other long
term
Long
service
leave $

Termination
benefits $

Options
(A) $

Total $

49,908

730,324

-

7%

Total $

Superannuation
benefits $

Share-based
payments

Proportion of
Value of
remuneration
options as
performance
proportion of
related %
remuneration %

Salary &
fees $

Cash
bonus $

Nonmonetary
benefits $

2008

649,217

-

-

649,217

31,199

-

-

2007

392,119

300,0001

-

692,119

39,212

-

-

98,258

829,589

36%

12%

2008

381,818

-

-

381,818

38,182

-

-

115,101

535,101

-

22%

2007

339,089

300,0001

-

639,089

33,909

-

-

115,101

788,099

38%

15%

Gordon Cowe, Director of
2008
Projects – appointed 1 July 2008

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other key management
personnel
Mr A Watling, Chief Operating
Officer
Mr C Catlow, Chief Financial
Officer

Other executives
Mr J Blanning, Head of Mining 2008

477,273

-

-

477,273

47,727

-

-

148,630

673,630

-

22%

2007

357,954

-

-

357,954

35,796

-

-

110,204

503,954

-

22%

2008

472,727

-

-

472,727

47,273

-

-

115,101

635,101

-

18%

2007

498,484

-

-

498,484

49,091

-

-

115,101

662,676

-

17%

2008

3,360,827

-

88,648

3,449,475

285,589

-

-

428,740

4,163,804

2007

2,803,711 1,342,294

-

4,146,005

332,572

-

-

438,664

4,917,241

Mr W Ramsey, Expansion
Project Specialist
Total: directors and other
management personnel
(consolidated and company)

1

Bonuses were approved in September 2006 by the Board of Directors under the previous bonus plan as reward for Fortescue achieving its funding and budget scheduling targets. Payments were a percentage of fixed
remuneration based on contribution to achievement of the targets.

All key management personnel and other executives are employed by the parent entity.
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Notes in relation to the table of Directors, other Key Management Personnel and
other executives’ remuneration

Fixed remuneration
Name

2008

2007

(A) The fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using the BlackScholes model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period
from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair
value of the options allocated to the relevant reporting period. In valuing the
options, market conditions have been taken into account.

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Mr R Scrimshaw

100%

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of
options on grant date:

Mr K Ambrecht

100%

Mr J Steinberg

-

Mr G Brayshaw

100%

*

Grant
Date

Expiry
Date

1 June
2005

31
December
2009

Fair
value per Exercise
option*
price*
$0.20

$0.27

Price of
shares
Risk free
on grant Expected interest Dividend
date*
volatility
rate
yield
$0.27

26.40%

5.75%

-

At risk - STI

At risk - LTI

2008

2007

2008

2007

Mr H Elliott

100%

100%

-

-

-

-

Mr A Forrest

100%

50%

-

50%

-

-

Mr G Rowley

100%

55%

-

45%

-

-

62%

-

38%

-

-

100%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100%

-

-

-

-

Other key management personnel
Mr A Watling

93%

52%

-

36%

7%

12%

Mr C Catlow

78%

47%

-

38%

22%

15%

Mr G Cowe

-

-

-

-

-

-

Mr J Blanning

78%

78%

-

-

22%

22%

Mr W Ramsey

82%

83%

-

-

18%

17%

Other executives

25
January
2006

25
January
2011

$0.46

$0.57

$0.62

26.80%

5.13%

-

1 June
2006

1 June
2011

$0.58

$0.70

$0.77

26.80%

5.75%

-

2 October
2006

30 June
2010

$0.56

$0.82

$0.85

25.50%

5.75%

-

The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on
19 December 2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby
each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid ordinary shares. To
maintain the value of options issued by Fortescue, Fortescue’s options were
also reorganised through an option split whereby each option was split into
ten options. The above disclosure of the factors and assumptions used in
determining the fair value of options on grant date during the year in 2008 and
2007 have been adjusted to account for this reorganisation.

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those
that are fixed are as follows:

C SERVICE AGREEMENTS (audited)
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors, other
Key Management Personnel and other executives are formalised in a service
agreement. The major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are
set out below.
Mr Andrew Forrest, Chief Executive Officer
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$110,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Mr Graeme Rowley, Executive Director Operations
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$520,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

fortescue metals group
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Mr Russell Scrimshaw, Executive Director Commercial
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$520,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Mr Alan Watling, Chief Operating Officer
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$795,000, to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Mr Christopher Catlow, Chief Financial Officer
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$420,000, to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Mr John Blanning, Head of Mining
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$525,000, to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
Mr William Ramsey, Expansion Project Specialist
• Term of agreement – Unspecified
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2008 of
$520,000, to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
All service agreements are able to be terminated on one month’s notice or by
providing one month’s pay in lieu of notice.
Details of performance related remuneration
Details of Fortescue’s policy in relation to the proportion of remuneration that
is performance related is discussed on page 38. The relative proportions of
remuneration that are linked to performance are disclosed on page 44.
Bonuses are approved by the Board of Directors under the FHPBP as reward for
Fortescue achieving its business targets and KPI’s.
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D SHARE-BASED REMUNERATION
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of the Company, which are
exercisable on a one-for-one basis under the FMGIOS. No performance rights
under the PRP have been issued.
The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration of Key
Management Personnel and other executives in the previous, current or future
reporting periods are set out on pages 42 and 43.
Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights. When
exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
Options over equity instruments granted as remuneration
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as
remuneration to each Director, Key Management Person and other executive of
the Company and Fortescue are set out below. When exercisable, each option
is convertible into one ordinary share of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd. Further
information on options is set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

Number of options granted
during the year
Name

2008*

Directors
Mr H Elliott
Mr K Ambrecht
Mr J Steinberg
Mr G Brayshaw
Mr A Forrest
Mr G Rowley
Mr R Scrimshaw
Other key management personnel
Mr A Watling
Mr C Catlow
Mr G Cowe
Other executives
Mr J Blanning
Mr W Ramsey
-

Number of options vested
during the year

2007*

2008*

2007*

-

-

-

-

500,000
250,000
-

500,000
250,000
-

1,000,000
-

250,000
250,000

250,000
500,000

* The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten
fully paid ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued by Fortescue, Fortescue’s options
were also reorganised through an option split whereby each option was split into ten options. The
numbers of options vested and the number of options granted during the year in 2008 and 2007 have
been adjusted to account for this option split.
The options were provided at no cost to the recipients. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry
date or termination of the individual’s employment. The options are exercisable on an annual basis
four years from grant date.
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to individuals is allocated equally over the
period from grant date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.
Fair values at grant date are independently determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price
at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and
the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. No options were granted during the financial year
ended 30 June 2008.
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Modification of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions
No terms of equity-settled share based payment transactions (including options
granted as remuneration to a key management person) have been altered or
modified by the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
Exercise of options granted as remuneration
Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of
options to each Director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, other key management
personnel and other executives of Fortescue are set out below:
Number of ordinary shares issued on
exercise of options during the year
Name

Date of exercise of
options

2008*

2007*

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Mr H Elliott

-

-

-

Mr K Ambrecht

-

-

-

Mr J Steinberg

-

-

-

Mr G Brayshaw

-

-

-

Mr A Forrest

-

-

-

Mr G Rowley

-

-

-

Mr R Scrimshaw

-

-

-

Other key management personnel
Mr A Watling

30/11/07

1,000,000

-

Mr C Catlow

-

-

-

Mr G Cowe

-

-

-

Mr J Blanning

24/01/08

250,000

-

Mr W Ramsey

01/02/08

250,000

-

Mr W Ramsey

27/04/07

-

500,000

Other executives

* The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully
paid ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued Fortescue’s options were also reorganised
through an option split whereby each option was split into ten options. The numbers of shares issued on
exercise of options during the year in 2008 and 2007 have been adjusted to account for this option split.

E ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Details of remuneration - 2008 cash bonuses and options
For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on pages 42 to
46 the percentage of the available bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested,
in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person
did not meet the service and performance criteria is set out below. No part of the
bonuses are payable in future years. The options were issued pursuant to the
FMGIOS and may be exercised 25% after one year, 50% after two years, 75%
after three years and in full after four years from grant date. No options will vest if
conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the option yet to vest is
nil. The maximum value of the options that is yet to vest has been determined as
the amount of the grant date fair value of the options that is yet to be expensed.
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Cash bonus

Name
Paid %
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Mr H Elliott
Mr K Ambrecht
Mr J Steinberg
Mr G Brayshaw
Mr A Forrest
Mr G Rowley
Mr R Scrimshaw
Other key management personnel
Mr A Watling
Mr C Catlow
Mr G Cowe
Other executives
Mr J Blanning
Mr W Ramsey
-

Options
Financial years
Minimum total
Maximum total
in which options value of grant yet value of grant yet
may vest
to vest $
to vest $

Forfeited %

Year Granted

Vested %

Forfeited %

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2005
2006
-

75%
50%
-

-

30/06/2009
30/06/2010
-

-

21,835
180,693
-

-

2007
2006

50%
75%

-

30/06/2010
30/06/2010

-

297,266
180,693

Further details relating to option transactions during the 2008 financial year are set out below
A
Name
Remuneration consisting of options %
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Mr H Elliott
Mr K Ambrecht
Mr J Steinberg
Mr G Brayshaw
Mr A Forrest
Mr G Rowley
Mr R Scrimshaw
Other key management personnel
Mr A Watling
7%
Mr C Catlow
22%
Mr G Cowe
Other executives
Mr J Blanning
22%
Mr W Ramsey
18%

B
Value at grant date $

C
Value at exercise date $

D
Value at lapse date $

-

-

-

-

5,393,000
-

-

-

1,204,500
1,482,750

-
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A = The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based
on the value of options expensed during the current year.
B = The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based
Payment of options granted during the year as part of remuneration.
C = The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of
remuneration and were exercised during the year, being the intrinsic value
of the options at that date.
D = The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration
and that lapsed during the year. Lapsed options refer to options that vested
but expired unexercised.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to
their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with
Fortescue is important.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDO Kendalls Audit &
Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd, formerly BDO Chartered Accountants) for audit and nonaudit services provided during the year are set out below.
The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the
advice received from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the
non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied
that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 for the following reasons:
• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure
they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor.
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants.
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by
the auditor of the Company, its related practices and non-related audit firms.

Amounts received or due and receivable by auditors for:
Audit Services:
Audit and review of financial reports (BDO Kendalls Audit &
Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd)
Services other than statutory audit:
Other assurance services
Financial due diligence (BDO Consultants (WA) Pty Ltd)
Risk advisory services (BDO Risk Advisory Services (QLD) Pty Ltd)
Total Remuneration

Consolidated
2008 $
2007 $

225,632

99,023

47,584
20,637
293,853

63,179
162,202

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations
Act 2001 is set out on page 50.
ROUNDING OFF
Fortescue is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, issued by the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off”
of amounts. Amounts in the financial report and Directors’ Report have been
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars,
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.
AUDITOR
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance
with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Herb Elliott
Chairman
Dated at Perth this 19th day of September 2008.
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BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
128 Hay Street
SUBIACO WA 6008
PO Box 700
WEST PERTH WA 6872
Phone 61 8 9380 8400
Fax 61 8 9380 8499
aa.perth@bdo.com.au
www.bdo.com.au
ABN 79 112 284 787

19 September 2008

The Directors
Fortescue Metals Group Limited
Level 2,
87 Adelaide Terrace
EAST PERTH WA 6004

Dear Sirs
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY GLYN O’BRIEN TO THE DIRECTORS OF
FORTESCUE METALS GROUP LIMITED
As lead auditor of Fortescue Metals Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, I
declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no
contraventions of:
x

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

x

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Fortescue Metals Group Limited and the entities it
controlled during the period.

GD O’Brien
Director

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
Perth, Western Australia

Page 24
BDO Kendalls is a national association of
separate partnerships and entities
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Income Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008
Consolidated

Note

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

Revenue

4

201,059

-

32,776

-

Cost of sales

5

(128,881)

-

(22,115)

-

Gross profit

72,178

-

10,661

-

Interest revenue

66,267

111,438

18,984

-

5,560

-

Other income

6

192,999

223,814

Financial expenses

7

(3,895,600)

(592,333)

(3,254)

(2,528)

Administration expenses

8

(31,737)

(23,393)

(31,737)

(23,393)

(3,595,893)

(280,474)

214

(25,921)

1,079,655

88,218

814

13,251

(2,516,238)

(192,256)

1,028

(12,670)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax benefit

9

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of the Company
Loss per share:
Basic loss per share (cents)

28

(155.30)

(12.06)

Diluted loss per share (cents)

28

N/A

N/A

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2008
Financials
Consolidated

Note

2008
$’000

Company
2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Financial assets
Derivatives held at fair value
Other current assets
Total Current Assets

10
11
12
13
14
15

192,237
158,742
51,738
38
1,655
404,410

1,682,201
257,533
38
3,168
1,283
1,944,223

284
3,222,103
38
1,655
3,224,080

48,092
373,164
38
1,283
422,577

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Development Expenditure
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Other financial assets
Total Non-Current Assets

11
17
18
20
21
16
13

2,445
4,027
1,510,132
1,861,854
32,727
1,360,995
1
4,772,181

2,438
5,101
510,330
838,138
5,320
207,218
1
1,568,546

2,445
7,242
32,727
132,468
1
174,883

2,438
8,996
5,320
116,017
1
132,772

5,176,591

3,512,769

3,398,963

555,349

23
24
22
14

358,294
22,644
164,405
15,162
560,505

265,816
66,246
332,062

2,339,054
2,339,054

2,544
2,544

23
22
16

5,948,329
116,381
191,060
6,255,770

2,645,770
43,248
119,000
2,808,018

2,741
2,741

530
530

TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Derivatives held at fair value
Total Current Liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

6,816,275

3,140,080

2,341,795

3,074

NET ASSETS / (DEFICIT)

(1,639,684)

372,689

1,057,168

552,275

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

1,077,932
3,832
(2,721,448)

574,003
3,896
(205,210)

1,077,932
3,832
(24,596)

574,003
3,896
(25,624)

(1,639,684)

372,689

1,057,168

552,275

TOTAL LIABILITIES

TOTAL EQUITY / (DEFICIENCY IN EQUITY)

29

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008
Consolidated

Note

Company
2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

164,165

-

19,729

-

63,373

111,438

18,984

-

(178,563)

(19,034)

(41,607)

(19,034)

(11,299)

(5,101)

-

-

(774,731)

(539,252)

-

(1,162,572)

(829,142)

-

2008
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers
Interest received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Development Expenditure
Payments for purchase of infrastructure assets
Interest paid
Net cash outflow from operating activities

10(a)

(241,558)

(153,025)

(2,141,185)

(1,434,116)

(2,894)

(299,127)
(2,254)
(320,415)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of other plant and equipment
Payments for purchase of intangible assets

(525)

(2,501)

(525)

(2,501)

(27,437)

(5,320)

(27,437)

(5,320)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment

177,578

29

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from investing activities

149,616

(7,792)

(27,962)

(7,792)

29

425,933

506,736

425,933

-

132,760

-

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issue of share capital

506,736

Proceeds from borrowings

-

Payment of transaction costs

(10,220)

Repayment of borrowings

-

Transfers to subsidiaries

2,964,044
(197,135)

-

-

73,133

43,248

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities

569,649

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Deposits received

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

10

(10,220)
(513,468)

(197,135)
-

-

-

3,236,090

(16,952)

361,558

(1,421,920)

1,794,182

(47,808)

33,351

1,682,201

18,054

48,092

18,054

(68,044)

(130,035)

-

(3,313)

192,237

1,682,201

284

48,092

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statements Of Changes In Equity for the year ended 30 June 2008
Financials
Consolidated
Opening balance at 1 July 2006
Net loss for the period

Contributed equity
$’000

Accumulated losses
$’000

147,153

(12,954)

-

(68,430)

Reserves
$’000
2,907
-

Total Equity
$’000
137,106
(68,430)

Effect of change in accounting policy

-

(123,826)

-

(123,826)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

(192,256)

-

(192,256)

-

424,380

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Issue of share capital
Exercise of options

424,380

-

2,470

-

(818)

1,652

Forfeited options

-

-

(460)

(460)

Equity settled share based payment transactions

-

-

2,267

2,267

426,850

-

989

427,839

3,896

372,689

Closing balance at 30 June 2007

Consolidated
Opening balance at 1 July 2007
Net loss for the period
Effect of change in accounting policy
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Issue of share capital
Exercise of options
Forfeited options
Transaction costs
Equity settled share based payment transactions
Closing balance at 30 June 2008

574,003

Contributed equity
$’000
574,003
505,986
4,497
(6,554)
503,929
1,077,932

(205,210)

Accumulated losses
$’000
(205,210)
(2,277,107)
(239,131)
(2,516,238)
(2,721,448)

Amounts are stated net of tax.
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Reserves
$’000

Total Equity
$’000

3,896
-

372,689
(2,277,107)
(239,131)
(2,516,238)

(1,760)
(236)
1,932
(64)

505,986
2,737
(236)
(6,554)
1,932
503,865

3,832

(1,639,684)
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Company
Opening balance at 1 July 2006
Net loss for the period
Effect of change in accounting policy
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Issue of share capital
Exercise of options
Forfeited options
Equity settled share based payment transactions
Closing balance at 30 June 2007

Company
Opening balance at 1 July 2007
Net loss for the period
Effect of change in accounting policy
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Issue of share capital
Exercise of options
Forfeited options
Transaction costs
Equity settled share based payment transactions
Closing balance at 30 June 2008

Contributed equity
$’000

Accumulated losses
$’000

147,153
-

(12,954)
(11,092)
(1,578)
(12,670)

2,907
-

137,106
(11,092)
(1,578)
(12,670)

424,380
2,470
426,850

-

(818)
(460)
2,267
989

424,380
1,652
(460)
2,267
427,839

574,003

(25,624)

3,896

552,275

Contributed equity
$’000

Accumulated losses
$’000

574,003
-

(25,624)
(12,261)
13,289
1,028

505,986
4,497
(6,554)
503,929

-

1,077,932

(24,596)

Amounts are stated net of tax.
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Reserves
$’000

Reserves
$’000

Total Equity
$’000

Total Equity
$’000

3,896
-

552,275
(12,261)
13,289
1,028

(1,760)
(236)
1,932
(64)

505,986
2,737
(236)
(6,554)
1,932
503,865

3,832

1,057,168
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Financials
NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in
Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 2, 87 Adelaide
Terrace East Perth WA 6004. The consolidated financial statements of the
Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2008 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as “Fortescue”). Fortescue’s principal activity
is the development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project.
NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs)
(including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated
financial report of Fortescue and the financial report of the Company comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations adopted
by the International Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors on 16 September 2008.
(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for the following:
• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value
• financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value
• available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 3(j) and 3(k).
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. The Company is of a kind
referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with
that Class Order, all financial information presented in Australian dollars has been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any
future periods affected.
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in the
following notes:
Note 16 – utilisation of tax losses
Note 17 – measurement of recoverable amount of exploration assets
Note 18 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of development expenditure
Note 23 – valuation of borrowings
Note 24 – site rehabilitation
Note 32 – financial risk management
Note 36 – measurement of share-based payments
Note 37 – contingent liabilities
NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been
applied consistently across Fortescue. The financial report includes separate
financial statements for the Company as an individual entity and the consolidated
entity consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current
year’s presentation.
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(a) Principles of Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all
subsidiaries of the Company as at 30 June 2008 and the results of all subsidiaries
for the year then ended. The Company and its subsidiaries together are referred
to in this financial report as “Fortescue”.
Subsidiaries are all those entities controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or
convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of
subsidiaries by the Company.
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.
(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the parent.
(b) Segment Reporting
A business segment is identified for a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are
different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is
identified when products or services are provided within a particular economic
environment subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

(c) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign currencies have been converted at rates of exchange
ruling on the date of those transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.
Translation differences on financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain
or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets are included in equity.
(d) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the gross consideration received or
receivable. Fortescue recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of Fortescue’s activities.
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. Fortescue bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the
type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
(i) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when
persuasive evidence, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, or an
arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of risks and rewards to
the customer, no further work or processing is required by Fortescue, the quantity
and quality of the goods has been determined with reasonable accuracy, the
price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. This is
generally when title passes.
The majority of Fortescue’s sales agreements specify that title passes when
the product is delivered to the destination specified by the customer, which is
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typically the vessel on which the product will be shipped. In practical terms,
revenue is generally recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date
the commodity is delivered to the shipping agent. These sales agreements
also allow for an adjustment to the sales price based on a survey of the goods
by the customer (an assay for mineral content); therefore recognition of the
sales revenue is based on the most recently determined estimate of product
specifications.
(ii) Traded freight
Revenue from freight services is recognised on the bill of lading date of the
customer. Revenue from a longer term contract to provide freight services is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of
completion of the contract is determined by recognising revenue from time and
material contracts at contractual rates over the life of the contract.
(iii) Interest
Interest revenue on cash balances is recognised when it becomes receivable,
using the effective interest method.
(e) Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled
entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in
equity are also recognised directly in equity.
Tax consolidation legislation
Fortescue has implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003
and is therefore taxed as a single entity from that date.
The head entity, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, and the controlled entities in the
tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred
tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax
consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also
recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled
entities in the tax consolidated group.
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Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements within the tax
consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to
other entities in the group. Any differences between the amounts assumed and
amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised
as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.
(f) Business Combinations
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets regardless
of whether shares or other assets are acquired. Cost is determined as the fair
value of the assets given up at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the
acquisition. Where shares are issued in an acquisition, the value of the shares
is determined by reference to the fair value of the assets acquired, including
goodwill, where applicable.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts
payable in the future are discounted to their present value at the date of
acquisition. The discount rate used is the rate at which a similar borrowing could
be obtained under comparable terms and conditions.
Where the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, including any
liability for restructuring costs, exceeds the cost of acquisition, the difference,
representing a discount on acquisition, is accounted for by reducing
proportionately the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired until the
discount is eliminated.
(g) Impairment of Assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
(i) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that Fortescue will not be able to collect all amounts due.
(j) Investments and Other Financial Assets
Fortescue classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on
the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines
the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets
classified as held-to-maturity and financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting period.
Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts of Fortescue’s financial assets
are a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
(i) Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through
the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables), but
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets. They are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. The effect of
discounting on these financial instruments in not considered to be material.
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Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such
as significant financial difficulties on the part of the counterparty or default or
significant delay in payment such that Fortescue will be unable to collect all of
the amounts due under the terms receivable, the amount of such provision being
the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the
future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable). For trade
receivables, such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with
the loss being recognised within administrative expenses in the income statement
on confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross
carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
(ii) Fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises only ‘in the money’ interest rate and foreign exchange
derivatives. They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in financial income or expenses. Other than interest rate
derivative financial instruments, Fortescue does not have any assets held for
trading nor has it designated any other financial assets as being at fair value
through profit or loss.
The fair value of Fortescue’s interest rate derivative is based on broker quotes for
similar instruments.
Interest rate derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each reporting date. Fortescue has not qualified its interest rate
derivatives as hedging instruments, therefore changes to their fair value at each
reporting date are taken immediately to the income statement.
(iii) Available for sale financial assets
Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified
as available for sale and comprise Fortescue’s investments in corporate bonds.
They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised directly in the
available for sale reserve. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an available for sale financial asset (which constitutes objective
evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any amount
previously charged to equity, is recognised in the income statement. Purchases

and sales of available for sale financial assets are recognised on settlement
date with any change in fair value between trade date and settlement date
being recognised in the available for sale reserve. On sale, the amount held in
the available for sale reserve associated with that asset is removed from equity
and recognised in the income statement. Interest on corporate bonds classified
as available for sale is calculated using the effective interest method and is
recognised in financial income in the income statement.
(iv) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that Fortescue’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. If Fortescue were to sell other than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would
be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets
are included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities less than 12
months from the reporting date, which are classified as current assets.
(k) Financial liabilities
Fortescue classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending
on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. Unless otherwise indicated,
the carrying amounts of Fortescue’s financial liabilities are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values.
(i) Fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises only ‘out of-the-money derivatives’. They are carried in
the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in financial
income or expense. Other than these derivative financial instruments, Fortescue
does not have any liabilities held for trading nor has it designated any financial
liabilities as being at fair value through profit or loss.
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(ii) Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities include the following items:
• Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method; and
• Fortescue’s borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of any
transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the instrument. Such
interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense
over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability
carried in the balance sheet. Interest expense in this context includes initial
transaction costs payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon
payable while the liability is outstanding.
Fair value is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows using a market
rate of interest.
(l) Equity Financial Instruments
Financial instruments issued by Fortescue are treated as equity only to the extent
that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability. Fortescue’s ordinary
shares are classified as equity instruments. There have been no changes in what
Fortescue considers to be capital since the previous period.
(m) Fair Value Estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for
recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. Fair values have been
determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following
methods.
Financial instruments traded in active markets
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly
traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by Fortescue is the current bid price; the appropriate
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

Financial instruments not traded in active markets
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for
example over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques.
Fortescue uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other
techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair
value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps
is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
Trade receivables and payables
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short term
nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate
that is available to Fortescue for similar financial instruments.
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on
the present value of the future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the
market rate of interest at the reporting date. In respect of the liability component
of convertible notes, the market rate of interest is determined by reference to
similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. For finance leases the
market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.
Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes
model. Measurement inputs include share price at measurement date, exercise
price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic
volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information),
weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical
experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the
risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market
performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in
determining fair value.
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(n) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined primarily on the basis of weighted average costs. Cost for raw
materials and stores is purchase price and for partly processed and saleable
products cost is derived on an absorption costing basis. For this purpose the
costs of production include:

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors
to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The
recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows
that will be received from the assets employment and subsequent disposal.
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present value in
determining recoverable amount.

• labour costs, materials and contractor expenses which are directly attributable
to the extraction and processing of ore;
• the amortisation of development expenditure and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment used in the extraction and processing of ore; and
• production overheads, including attributable mining and manufacturing
overheads.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to Fortescue and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Stockpiles represent ore that has been extracted and is available for further
processing. If there is significant uncertainty as to when the stockpiled ore will be
processed it is expensed as incurred. Where the future processing of this ore can
be predicted with confidence e.g., because it exceeds the mine’s cut off grade,
it is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the ore will not be
processed within 12 months after the balance sheet date it is included within non
current assets. Quantities are assessed primarily through surveys and assays.
(o) Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition and measurement
Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less,
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct
labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing an asset to a working
condition ready for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located. When parts of an item
of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of the equipment.

Depreciation
Depreciation on assets, other than land, is calculated using the straight line
method or units or production method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts,
net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with
carrying amount. These are included in the income statement.
(i) Straight line method
Assets within operations where production is not expected to fluctuate
significantly from one year to another or which have a physical life that differs
from the related mine are depreciated on a straight line basis as follows:
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Buildings 			
Machinery 			
Vehicles 			
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Infrastructure 			

25-40 years
10-15 years
3-5 years
3-8 years
5-15 years

Land is not depreciated.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
(ii) Units of production method
Where the useful life of infrastructure assets is directly linked to the extraction of
ore from the mine, these infrastructure assets are depreciated using the units of
production method. In applying the units of production method, depreciation is
normally calculated using the quantity of material extracted from the mine in the
period as a percentage of the total quantity of material to be extracted in current
and future periods based on proved and probable reserves.
(p) Intangible Assets
(i) IT development and software
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring
software and licenses that will contribute to future period financial benefits
through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and
systems. Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service,
direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees’ time spent on the project.
IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the
development phase and are only recognised following completion of technical
feasibility and where Fortescue has an intention and ability to use the asset.
Intangible assets that have a physical life that differs from the related mine are
amortised on a straight line basis over periods generally ranging from 3 to 6 years.
Where the useful life of intangible assets is directly linked to the extraction of ore
from the mine, these assets are amortised on the units of production method.

(ii) Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred
on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project
will, after considering its commercial and technical feasibility, be completed and
generate future economic benefits and its costs can be measured reliably. The
expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs
of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised
as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an
expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised
research and development costs are recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line
basis over its useful life.
(q) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect
of each identifiable area of interest. Exploration and evaluation expenditure
includes:
• researching and analysing historical exploration data;
• gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and
geophysical studies;
• exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;
• determining and examining the value and grade of the resource;
• surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements;
• conducting market and finance studies;
• administration costs that are directly attributable to a specific exploration area; and
• licensing costs.
These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be
recouped through the successful development of the area, or where activities in
the area have not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of
the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves.
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A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the
appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of
interest. Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full
against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
(r) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Fortescue
prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
(s) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities which
are not an incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down of the facility, are
expensed to the income statement.
The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using
a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount
is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the conversion option. This is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of income tax effects.
Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred
to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Fortescue has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the balance sheet date.

(t) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. This is a change in the accounting
policy of Fortescue, refer note 3(ah).
(u) Provisions
Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: Fortescue has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet
date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
(v) Rehabilitation
The mining, extraction and processing activities of Fortescue give rise to
obligations for site rehabilitation. Rehabilitation obligations can include facility
decommissioning and dismantling; removal or treatment of waste materials; land
rehabilitation; and site restoration. The extent of work required and the associated
costs are estimated based on feasibility and engineering studies using current
restoration standards and techniques. Provisions for the cost of each rehabilitation
program are recognised at the time that environmental disturbance occurs.
Rehabilitation provisions are initially measured at the expected value of future
cash flows required to rehabilitate the relevant site, discounted to their present
value. The value of the provision is progressively increased over time as the effect
of discounting unwinds, creating an expense recognised in financial expenses.
When provisions for rehabilitation are initially recognised, the corresponding
cost is capitalised as an asset, representing part of the cost of acquiring the
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future economic benefits of the operation. The capitalised cost of rehabilitation
activities is recognised in ‘Development Expenditure’ as rehabilitation assets and
amortised accordingly.
Where rehabilitation is expected to be conducted systematically over the life of
the operation, rather than at the time of closure, provision is made for the present
obligation or estimated outstanding continuous rehabilitation work at each
balance sheet date and the costs charged to the income statement in line with
remaining future cash flows.
At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured to account for
any new disturbance, updated cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives
of operations, new regulatory requirements and revisions to discount rates.
Changes to the rehabilitation liability are added to or deducted from the related
rehabilitation asset and amortised accordingly.
(w) Employee Benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual
leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
the reporting date are recognised in other payables and accruals in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee
benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods
of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(iii) Share-based payments
Share-based remuneration benefits are provided to employees via the Fortescue

Metals Group Incentive Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”) and Performance Rights Plan
(“PRP”). Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 36.
The fair value of options granted under the FMGIOS and PRP are recognised as
an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free
interest rate for the term of the option.
The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting
conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. At each reporting date, the entity revises its estimate of
the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee
benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent
estimate. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the income statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
Under the PRP, shares issued by the Company to employees for no cash
consideration vest over the minimum vesting period of three years. The market
value of the shares issued is recognised over the vesting period as an employee
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
(iv) Defined contribution superannuation funds
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are
recognised as an expense in profit and loss as they are incurred.
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(x) Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of
the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
(y) Loss Per Share
(i) Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued
during the financial year.
(ii) Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic
loss per share to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and
the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
(z) Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated
GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Tax Office (“ATO”). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a
current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for
the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as
operating cash flows.

(aa) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where Fortescue, as lessee, has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property,
plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are
not transferred to Fortescue as lessee are classified as operating leases (note
33). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor), except for investment property, are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(ab) Other Income
Other income comprises dividend income, gains on the disposal of availablefor-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, foreign currency gains and gains on hedging instruments
that are recognised in profit and loss. Dividend income is recognised on the date
that Fortescue’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of
quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.
(ac) Finance Expenses
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the
discount on provisions, foreign currency losses, changes in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss, impairment losses recognised on financial
assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
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(ad) Development Expenditure
Once a mining project has been established as commercially viable and
technically feasible, expenditure other than that on land, buildings and plant
and equipment is capitalised under development expenditure. Development
expenditure costs include past exploration and evaluation costs, pre-production
development costs, development excavation, development studies and other
subsurface expenditure pertaining to that area of interest. Costs related to
surface plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings are
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
Development costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest.
Costs associated with commissioning new assets in the period before they are
capable of operating in the manner intended by management, are capitalised.
Development costs incurred after the commencement of production are capitalised
to the extent they are expected to give rise to a future economic benefit.
When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is not
commercial or technically feasible, any accumulated cost in respect of that area
is written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of interest is
reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated cost written off
to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
Amortisation of carried forward exploration and development costs is charged on
a units of production basis over the life of economically recoverable reserves.
Development assets are assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances
suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For the
purposes of impairment testing, development assets are allocated to
cash-generating units to which the development activity relates. The cash
generating unit shall not be larger than the area of interest.
(ae) Deferred Stripping
Overburden and other mine waste materials are often removed during the initial
development of a mine in order to access the mineral deposit. This activity is
referred to as development stripping. The directly attributable costs (inclusive of
an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) are capitalised as development

costs. Capitalisation of development stripping costs ceases and amortisation
of those capitalised costs commences upon extraction of ore. Amortisation of
capitalised development stripping costs is determined on a unit of production
basis for each separate area of interest.
Capitalised development stripping costs are classified as ‘Development
Expenditure”. Development stripping costs are considered in combination with other
assets of an operation for the purpose of undertaking impairment assessments.
Removal of waste material normally continues throughout the life of a mine. This
activity is referred to as production stripping and commences upon extraction of ore.
The costs of production stripping are charged to the income statement as
operating costs when the ratio of waste material to ore extracted for an area of
interest is expected to be reasonably constant throughout its estimated life.
When the ratio of waste to ore is not expected to be constant, production
stripping costs are accounted for as follows:
• All costs are initially charged to the income statement and classified as
operating costs;
• When the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated life-of-mine
ratio, a portion of the stripping costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant
overhead expenditure) is capitalised; and
• In subsequent years when the ratio of waste to ore is less than the estimated
life-of-mine ratio, a portion of capitalised stripping costs is charged to the
income statement as operating costs.
The amount of production stripping costs capitalised or charged in a financial
year is determined so that the stripping expense for the financial year reflects
the estimated life-of-mine ratio. Changes to the estimated life-of-mine ratio are
accounted for prospectively from the date of the change.
The Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek area of interest has minimal overburden to
remove from these alluvial mines, therefore production stripping costs for these
mines are not deferred but charged to the income statement as they are incurred.
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commencing on or after 1 January 2009. It has removed the option
to expense all borrowing costs and – when adopted – will require the
capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset. Fortescue has adopted the
current benchmark treatment of expensing all borrowing costs and will have
to change its accounting policy and no longer expense all borrowing costs
when this new standard becomes mandatory.

Capitalised development stripping costs and capitalised production stripping
costs are classified as ‘Development Expenditure’. These assets are considered
in combination with other assets of an operation for the purpose of undertaking
impairment assessments.
(af) Rounding of Amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/100, issued by the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding
off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars,
or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
(ag) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published
that are not mandatory for 30 June 2008 reporting periods. Fortescue’s and the
Company’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations
is set out below.
(i)

(ii)

AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASR 2007-3 Amendments to Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 8
AASB 8 and AASB 2007-3 are effective for annual reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2009. AASB 8 will result in a significant
change in the approach to segment reporting, as it requires adoption of
a ‘management approach’ to reporting on financial performance. The
information being reported will be based on what the key decision makers’
use internally for evaluating segment performances and deciding how to
allocate resources to operating segments. Fortescue has not yet decided
when to adopt AASB 8. Application of AASB 8 may result in different
segments, segment results and different types of information being reported
in the segment note of the financial report. However, at this stage, it is not
expected to affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs and AASB 2007-6 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB 101,
AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 & 12]
The revised AASB 123 is applicable to annual reporting periods

(iii) AASB-I 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction
AASB-I 14 will be effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or
after 1 January 2008. It provides guidance on the maximum amount that
may be recognised as an asset in relation to a defined benefit plan and the
impact of minimum funding requirements on such an asset. Fortescue does
not have any defined benefit plans.
(iv) Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 2007-8
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101
A revised AASB 101 was issued in September 2007 and is applicable for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. It requires
the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and makes
changes to the statement of changes in equity, but will not affect any of the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. If an entity has made a prior
period adjustment or has reclassified items in the financial statements, it will
need to disclose a third balance sheet (statement of financial position), this
one being as at the beginning of the comparative period. Fortescue intends
to apply the revised standard from 1 July 2009.
(v)

Revised AASB 3 Business Combinations
The revised AASB 3 is applicable to annual reporting periods commencing
on or after 1 July 2009. The revised standard introduces more detailed
guidance on accounting for step acquisitions, adjustments to contingent
consideration assets acquired that the purchaser does not intend to
use, reacquired rights and share based payments as part of purchase
consideration. Also, all acquisition costs will have to be expensed instead of
being recognised as part of goodwill. Fortescue has not yet decided when
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to adopt the revised AASB 3. At this stage, it is not expected to affect any of
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
(vi) AASB 2008-1 Amendments to AASB 2 – Share based payments – vesting
conditions and cancellations
AASB 2008-1 is applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2009. The definition of vesting conditions has changed and the accounting
treatment clarified for cancellations to share based payment arrangements
by the counterparty. This is to ensure that conditions other than performance
conditions do not result in a “true up” of the share based payment expense
and are treated in a manner similar to market conditions. To date the
Company has not issued any options to employees that include non-vesting
conditions and as such there will be no impact on the financial statements
when this revised standard is adopted for the first time.
(vii) AASB 2008-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
the Annual Improvements Project
AASB 2008-5 is applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 July
2009. These amendments reflect accounting changes for presentation,
recognition and measurement, as well as terminology and editorial changes.
One amendment of AASB 123 Borrowing Costs is that borrowing costs are
now defined to include the interest expense calculated using the effective
interest method. As such, various components of the definition have been
deleted as these are included in the effective interest calculation. There
will be no impact as these amendments merely clarify existing practice.
The other major amendment applicable to Fortescue will be to AASB 136
Impairment of Assets, which requires additional disclosure requirements
about discounted cash flow assumptions used for the fair value less costs to
sell method. These amendments have no financial impact on Fortescue, only
additional disclosure requirements.
(viii) AASB 2008-6 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from the Annual Improvements Project
AASB 2008-6 is applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009.
If a parent entity is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a
subsidiary that meets the criteria for classification as held-for-sale under

AASB 5, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary must be classified as
held for sale. There will be no impact on Fortescue as these requirements
are only required to be applied prospectively to situations where there is a
plan involving loss of control in annual periods commencing on or after 1
January 2009.
(ix) AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
AASB 2008-7 is applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 January
2009. The change deals with the removal of the definition of the “cost
method” in AASB 127, meaning that pre and post-acquisition dividends
no longer need to be differentiated and all dividends are to be recognised
as revenue. However, whenever a dividend is received from a subsidiary,
associate or jointly controlled entity, an impairment test will be required
under AASB 136 where there is an indicator for impairment. There will be no
impact as these requirements are only required to be applied prospectively
for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. However, any preacquisition dividends received after this date may result in additional
impairment changes on investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities. This is because such amounts would previously have
been written off directly against the cost of the investment, whereas in future
they will be recognised as revenue which may result in the investment being
stated at an amount exceeding recoverable amount.
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(ah) Change in accounting policy
AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs” permits two alternative treatments for borrowing
costs. According to the standard the benchmark treatment requires all borrowing
costs to be expensed in the period incurred. An allowable alternative treatment
expenses all borrowing costs except that it allows capitalisation of borrowing
costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset, less any investment income on the temporary investment
of those borrowings. Until the 2008 financial year Fortescue accounted for
borrowing costs using the allowable alternative treatment and capitalised
borrowing costs related to qualifying assets.

The change in accounting policy had an impact of increasing Fortescue’s
loss per share by 14.76 cents per share (2007: 7.77 cents per share) on basic
earnings per share. Diluted loss per share has not been calculated for the
consolidated entity as any conversion of options would result in a decrease in the
net loss per share.

During the 2008 financial year Fortescue decided to adopt the benchmark
treatment and expense all borrowing costs as incurred. Directors believe this
provides a more conservative approach and better matches the short term future
economic benefits of these borrowings, rather than expensing them over the life
of the asset.
The change in accounting policy was applied retrospectively and comparatives
have been restated. The change in accounting policy had the following impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
Consolidated
2008
$’000

The Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Loss attributable to members of the Company for the year ended 30 June
Increase in other income
Increase in financial expense
Increase in income tax benefit/(expense)
Final profit/ (loss) attributable to members of the Company

(2,277,107)
66,267
(407,882)
102,484
(2,516,238)

(68,430)
111,438
(288,332)
53,068
(192,256)

(12,261)
18,984
(5,695)
1,028

(11,092)
(2,254)
676
(12,670)

Net assets/(deficit) as at 30 June
Decrease in development expenditure
Increase/(decrease) in intercompany receivable
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability
Final net assets/ (deficit) at 30 June

(1,400,553)
(341,615)
102,484
(1,639,684)

496,515
(176,894)
53,068
372,689

1,043,879
18,984
(5,695)
1,057,168

553,853
(2,254)
676
552,275

239,131

123,826

(13,289)

1,578

Increase/(decrease) in accumulated losses
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NOTE 4. REVENUE
Consolidated

Sale of iron ore
Shipping revenue

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

129,904
71,155
201,059

-

32,776

-

125,719
3,162
128,881

-

22,085
30
22,115

-

39,378
8,867
4,790
60,852
11,832
125,719

-

22,085

-

1,739
30
1,393
3,162

-

30
30

-

NOTE 5. COST OF SALES
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense
(a) Operating expenses
Mining costs
Rail costs
Port costs
Shipping costs
Government royalty

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of infrastructure assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of development expenditure

NOTE 6. OTHER INCOME
Fair value gains on interest swaps
Net foreign exchange gain – Subordinated Loan Note
Net foreign exchange gain - other

-

3,168

-

-

16,313

88,307

176,686

132,339

5,560

-

-

192,999

223,814

5,560

-
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NOTE 7. FINANCIAL EXPENSES
Consolidated

Fair value adjustment to Subordinated Loan Note
Interest expense – Subordinated Loan Note
Interest expense - other
Debt establishment costs
Fair value loss on interest swaps
Net foreign exchange loss - other

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

3,466,134
161,878
246,004
3,254
18,330
3,895,600

304,001
53,784
234,548
592,333

3,254
3,254

2,254
274
2,528

1,513
11,160
3,158
1,696
4,319
2,279
7,612
31,737

1,944
3,078
966
1,807
3,192
2,687
9,719
23,393

1,513
11,160
3,158
1,696
4,319
2,279
7,612
31,737

1,944
3,078
966
1,807
3,192
2,687
9,719
23,393

10,020
2,475
1,067,160
1,079,655

61,314
22,054
4,850
88,218

2,475
(1,661)
814

41,707
67,531
6,249
(102,236)
13,251

3,595,893
1,078,768
(146)
(509)
1,542
1,079,655

280,474
84,142
(232)
(542)
4,850
88,218

(214)
(64)
(155)
(509)
1,542
814

25,921
7,776
(232)
(542)
6,249
13,251

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

NOTE 8. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Wages and salaries, including superannuation
Other associated personnel expenses
Increase in liability for annual leave
Share based payment expense
Legal costs
Depreciation
Other administration expenses

NOTE 9. INCOME TAX BENEFIT
(a) Income tax benefit
Current tax
Adjustment for prior periods – current tax
Deferred tax
Tax losses recognised – current year
Consolidation adjustment (see note 16)
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax payable:
Loss /(profit) before tax
Income tax benefit / (expense) calculated at 30% (2007: 30%)
Sundry non-deductible/ (deductible) expenses
Share based payments
Benefits of tax losses and temporary differences not previously brought to account
Adjustment for prior periods – current tax
Income tax benefit for the year
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NOTE 9. INCOME TAX (continued)
(d) Tax consolidation legislation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation from 1 July 2003. The accounting policy in relation to this
legislation is set out in note 3(e).
On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidation group entered into a tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the Directors, limits the
joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd.
The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate the Company for any current tax payable assumed and are
compensated by the Company for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to the Company
under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.
The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable
after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The funding
amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables.
NOTE 10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CURRENT
Consolidated

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Cash and cash equivalents

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

26
192,211
192,237

20
1,682,181
1,682,201

2008
$’000
26
258
284

2007
$’000
20
48,072
48,092
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NOTE 10a. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Profit/(loss) for the year
Depreciation of other plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of infrastructure assets
Amortisation of development expenditure
Profit on disposal of assets
Provision – employee entitlements
Equity-settled share based payment transactions
Net effective interest on borrowings
Debt establishment costs
Fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps
Fair value adjustment on Subordinated Loan Note
Exploration, development and AUC expenditure capitalised
Tax (benefit)/expense
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange
Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working capital
Changes in assets and liabilities during the year:
Increase/ (decrease) in payables
(Increase) /decrease in financial assets
(Increase) /decrease in receivables and prepayments
(Increase) /decrease in inventory
(Increase)/decrease in net tax asset
Net cash used in operating activities

Company
2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

(2,516,238)
2,279
30
1,739
1,393
3,158
1,696
165,338
3,254
18,330
3,466,134
(2,195,428)
(1,079,655)
(168,418)
(2,296,388)

(192,256)
2,687
(21)
966
1,807
(3,168)
304,001
(1,161,659)
88,218
(220,647)
(1,180,072)

1,028
2,279
30
3,158
1,696
3,254
(814)
10,631

(12,670)
2,687
(21)
966
1,807
178,248
13,251
274
184,542

95,002
111,939
(51,738)
(2,141,185)

79,153
285
(192,196)
(141,286)
(1,434,116)

(13,525)
(2,894)

(14,130)
285
(375,625)
(115,487)
(320,415)
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NOTE 11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated
2008
$’000

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

CURRENT
Trade debtors

50,059

-

13,047

-

GST receivables

16,882

13,666

16,882

13,666

Security deposits

89,972

243,755

-

2,963

Intercompany receivables

-

-

3,190,345

356,423

Other receivables

1,829

112

1,829

112

158,742

257,533

3,222,103

373,164

NON-CURRENT
Loan receivable

2,445

2,438

2,445

2,438

2,445

2,438

2,445

2,438

Information about Fortescue and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk are disclosed in Note 32. Due to the short term nature of
these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
NOTE 12. INVENTORIES - CURRENT
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Raw materials and stores – at cost
Iron ore stockpiles – at cost

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

-

14,203
37,535
51,738

Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2008 amounted to $53,035,000 (2007 - nil).
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NOTE 13. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Consolidated

CURRENT
Listed investments – at cost
NON-CURRENT
Unquoted investments – at cost

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

38
38

38
38

38
38

38
38

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

Unquoted investments are available-for-sale assets.
NOTE 14. DERIVATIVE AT FAIR VALUE - CURRENT
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Interest rate derivative asset held at fair value
Interest rate derivative liability at fair value
Net interest rate derivative held at fair value

(15,162)
(15,162)

Company

3,168
3,168

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in other income or financial expenses in the income statement.
(a) Risk exposure
Information about Fortescue’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and price risk is provided in note 32.
NOTE 15. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS – CURRENT
Consolidated

Prepayments

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

1,655
1,655

1,283
1,283

1,655
1,655

1,283
1,283
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NOTE 16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABIITIES – NON CURRENT
During the year ended 30 June 2007 $115.4 million of previously unrecognised tax losses were recognised as management considered it probable that future taxable profits
would be available against which they could be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Consolidated

Assets
2008
$’000

Exploration and evaluation
Development expenditure
Net unrealised foreign exchange gains
Borrowing costs
Net effective interest on Subordinated Loan Note
Net effective interest on Senior Secured Notes
Fair value adjustments on interest rate swap
Fair value adjustment on Subordinated Loan Note
Provisions
Business related costs
Other items
Revenue tax losses
Deferred tax assets/( liabilities)
Set off of tax
Deferred tax assets/( liabilities)

45,314
48,564
11,086
(5,499)
1,131,040
1,554
691
354
127,891
1,360,995
1,360,995

Company

Revenue tax losses
Provisions
Exploration and evaluation
Development expenditure
Net unrealised foreign exchange gains
Borrowing costs
Business related costs
Other items
Tax (assets)/liabilities
Set off tax
Net tax (assets)/liabilities

Liabilities

Net

2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

91,200
428
195
115,395
207,218
207,218

(1,799)
(168,957)
(17,098)
(3,206)
(191,060)
(191,060)

(1,530)
(7,483)
(100,771)
(7,720)
(950)
(546)
(119,000)
(119,000)

Assets

(1,799)
45,314
(168,957)
(17,098)
48,564
11,086
(5,499)
1,131,040
1,554
691
(2,852)
127,891
1,169,935
1,169,935

Liabilities

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

127,891
1,554
1,010
1,659
354
132,468
132,468

115,395
428
3
191
116,017
116,017

2008
$’000
(905)
(1,836)
(2,741)
(2,741)

2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

(1,530)
(7,483)
(100,771)
(7,720)
(950)
91,200
428
(351)
115,395
88,218
88,218

Net
2007
$’000
Restated
381
(911)
(530)
(530)

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

127,891
1,554
(905)
(1,836)
1,010
1,659
354
129,727
129,727

115,395
428
381
(911)
3
191
115,487
115,487
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NOTE 16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABIITIES – NON CURRENT (continued)
Movement in temporary differences during the year
Balance
1 July 06
Consolidated
$’000
Exploration and evaluation
Development expenditure
Net unrealised foreign exchange gains
Borrowing costs
Fair value adjustments on interest rate swap
Fair value adjustment on Subordinated Loan Note
Net effective interest on Subordinated Loan Note
Net effective interest on Senior Secured Notes
Provisions
Other items
Revenue tax losses
Business related costs

Recognised in
profit or loss
$’000

Recognised in
equity
$’000

Balance
30 June 07
$’000

Recognised in
profit or loss
$’000

Recognised in
equity
$’000

Balance
30 June 08
$’000

(48,442)
(332)
(782)
4
174
146
49,232
-

46,912
(7,151)
(99,989)
(7,724)
(950)
91,200
254
(497)
66,163
88,218

-

(1,530)
(7,483)
(100,771)
(7,720)
(950)
91,200
428
(351)
115,395
88,218

(269)
52,797
(68,186)
(9,378)
(4,549)
1,039,840
48,564
11,086
1,126
(2,501)
12,496
(1,371)
1,079,655

2,062
2,062

(1,799)
45,314
(168,957)
(17,098)
(5,499)
1,131,040
48,564
11,086
1,554
(2,852)
127,891
691
1,169,935

47,833
145
174
(47,042)
(332)
(782)
4
-

67,562
46
254
47,042
713
(129)
(1)
115,487

-

115,395
191
428
381
(911)
3
115,487

12,496
163
1,126
(1,286)
(925)
1,007
(403)
12,178

2,062
2,062

127,891
354
1,554
(905)
(1,836)
1,010
1,659
129,727

Company
Revenue tax losses
Other items
Provisions
Exploration and evaluation
Development expenditure
Net unrealised foreign exchange gains
Borrowing costs
Business related costs

Consolidated Adjustments

Total increase/(reduction) to tax expense of company
Total increase/(decrease) to inter-company assets of company

Consolidated

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

(12,041)
12,041

(102,236)
102,236
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NOTE 17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE – NON CURRENT
Consolidated

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Expenditure
Transfers to development expenditure
Carrying amount at end of year

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

5,101
11,299
(12,373)
4,027

182,914
6,605
(184,418)
5,101

-

178,248
6,170
(184,418)
-

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.
NOTE 18. DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE – NON CURRENT
Consolidated

Development expenditure at cost
Accumulation amortisation
Reconciliation of movement in carrying amounts
Balance at beginning of year
Expenditure
Net additions of rehabilitation assets
Transfer from exploration
Transferred to subsidiaries
Amortisation of development expenditure
Balance at end of year

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000

2007
$’000
Restated

1,511,525
(1,393)
1,510,132

510,330
510,330

-

-

510,330
966,178
22,644
12,373
(1,393)
1,510,132

325,912
184,418
510,330

-

325,912
184,418
(510,330)
-

All expenditure for Port, Rail and Mine Development is included in Development Expenditure and Property, Plant and Equipment. The recoverable amount of development
expenditure is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use (discounted future cash flows).
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NOTE 19. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

Company
Parent Entity
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Controlled Entities
International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd
The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd @
FMG Resources Pty Ltd
FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd
FMG Chichester Pty Ltd #
FMG Finance Pty Ltd*
Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd
Karribi Developments Pty Ltd
FMG Magnetite Pty Ltd
FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd
FMG Pacific Limited

Class of share

Country of
Incorporation

Equity Holding
2008 %

2007 %

Australia
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
New Zealand

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

@

The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd is a subsidiary of International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd
FMG Chichester Pty Ltd is a subsidiary of FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd
* FMG Finance Pty Ltd is a subsidiary of FMG Chichester Pty Ltd

#

Fortescue acquired the shelf company FMG Pacific Limited during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
-

Cost to Company
2008 $
2007 $
-

-

1
400
1
1
1
1
1
1
407

1
400
1
1
1
1
1
406
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NOTE 20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – NON CURRENT
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Land and buildings – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

341
(6)
335

316
(2)
314

341
(6)
335

316
(2)
314

10,366
(4,098)
6,268

9,947
(2,482)
7,465

10,366
(4,098)
6,268

9,947
(2,482)
7,465

Motor vehicles – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

212
(42)
170

151
(14)
137

212
(42)
170

151
(14)
137

Computer equipment
Accumulated depreciation

2,325
(1,856)
469

2,305
(1,225)
1,080

2,325
(1,856)
469

2,305
(1,225)
1,080

Infrastructure assets1
Accumulated depreciation

1,856,351
(1,739)
1,854,612

-

-

829,142

1,861,854

838,138

Plant and other office equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Assets under construction
Total property, plant and equipment

7,242

8,996
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NOTE 20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – NON CURRENT (continued)
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts
Land and Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

315

2007
$’000

(1)
314

7,465
419
(1,616)
6,268

3,556
5,371
(7)
(1,455)
7,465

7,465
419
(1,616)
6,268

3,556
5,371
(7)
(1,455)
7,465

137
61

137
61

(28)
170

3
144
(4)
(6)
137

(28)
170

3
144
(4)
(6)
137

Computer equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

1,080
20
(631)
469

2,305
(1,225)
1,080

1,080
20
(631)
469

2,305
(1,225)
1,080

Infrastructure assets1
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Transfers
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

1,856,351
(1,739)
1,854,612

Assets under construction
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Carrying amount at end of year

829,142
1,217,951
(190,742)
(1,856,351)
-

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

1

2008
$’000

314
25
(4)
335

Plant and other equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

314
25
(4)
335

Company
2007
$’000

-

-

Infrastructure assets consist of Mine, Port and Rail infrastructure assets as part of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project

315
(1)
314

-

-

-

-

829,142
829,142

-

-
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NOTE 21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – NON-CURRENT
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Software
Software at cost
Amortisation
Reconciliation of movement in carrying amounts
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Amortisation
Balance at end of year

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

32,757
(30)
32,727

5,320
5,320

32,757
(30)
32,727

5,320
5,320

5,320
27,437
(30)
32,727

5,320
5,320

5,320
27,437
(30)
32,727

5,320
5,320

164,405
164,405

3
66,243
66,246

2,329,931
9,123
2,339,054

3
2,541
2,544

116,381
116,381

43,248
43,248

-

-

NOTE 22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
CURRENT
Trade payables
Intercompany payables
Other payables and accruals
NON-CURRENT
Deposits received

NOTE 23. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
CURRENT
Subordinated Loan Note		
Senior Secured Notes		

(ii)
(iii)

130,139
228,155
358,294

14,834
250,982
265,816

-

-

NON-CURRENT
Syndicated Secured Loan		
Subordinated Loan Note		
Senior Secured Notes		

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

3,882,461
2,065,868
5,948,329

386,067
2,259,703
2,645,770

-

-
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NOTE 23. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
No borrowings (non-current and current) were issued or repaid during the financial year ended 30 June 2008. The Subordinated Loan Note was revalued at 30 June 2008
based on prevailing market conditions and economic forecasts.

Current
A$’000

Currency
Balance at 1 July 2007
Fair value adjustment of Subordinated Loan Note
Revaluation / reclassification
Balance at 30 June 2008

AUD
AUD
AUD
AUD

265,816
92,478
358,294

Carrying amount Non-current
A$’000

Total AUD
A$’000

2,645,770
3,466,134
(163,575)
5,948,329

2,911,586
3,466,134
(71,097)
6,306,623

The following borrowings (non-current and current) were issued and repaid during the financial year ended 30 June 2007:

Balance at 1 July 2006
New issues :
Syndicated Secured Loan
Subordinated loan note facility
Senior Secured Notes
Senior Secured Notes
Senior Secured Notes
Senior Secured Notes
Repayments :
Syndicated Secured Loan
Balance at 30 June 2007

Face value
A$’000

Note

Currency

(i)

AUD

(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iii)
(iii)
(iii)

USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
EUR

117,827
117,827
1,272,534
377,047
294,568
499,129

(i)

USD

176,741

Current
A$’000
-

Carrying amount Non-current
A$’000

Total AUD
A$’000

67,268

67,268

14,834
135,577
37,808
28,799
48,798

129,867
386,067
1,177,019
350,460
267,407
464,817

129,867
400,901
1,312,596
388,268
296,206
513,615

265,816

(197,135)
2,645,770

(197,135)
2,911,586

i) Syndicated loan
The Company put in place during the financial year ended 30 June 2006 a US$200 million Syndicated Secured Loan Note facility with institutional investors. The facility was
put in place to ensure the rapid development of its Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project prior to completion of the capital raising process.
• The key terms and conditions of the facility were:
• The facility term was 2 years subject to a review after 12 months;
• Pricing is based on a competitive margin over LIBOR; and
The facility was secured over Fortescue’s total assets per the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company had a nil drawn down balance as at 30 June 2007 with no additional amount drawn down during the current financial year.
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ii) Subordinated Loan Note
(through its wholly owned subsidiary FMG Chichester Pty Ltd)
The Company put in place a US$100 million Subordinated Loan Note during the
previous financial year.
The key terms and conditions of the facility are:
• Interest under the note is calculated at 4% of the revenue, net of government
royalties, from the sale of iron ore FOB Port Hedland from the tenements of the
Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. Accordingly the interest is only
accrued and payable when Fortescue is in production and is only relevant to
iron ore produced from these two tenement areas for a period of 13 years from
18 August 2006; and
• The note is unsecured and deeply subordinated to any secured debt. In the
event that an interest payment is earned but not payable due to secured lender
restrictions, the amount unpaid will accrue interest at a market interest rate until
payment is made. As at 30 June 2008 the total assets of the Issuer of this note,
FMG Chichester Pty Ltd, pledged as security over the note is $2,077.9 million.
The note was revalued at 30 June 2008 to $4,012,600,000 (30 June 2007:
$400,901,000) in line with changes in the following management estimates,
prevailing market conditions and economic forecasts:
• Production has been revised to reflect Fortescue’s expectations that production
from Christmas Creek and Cloudbreak will reach 160mtpa during the term of
the facility;
• Future iron ore prices have been updated to reflect forecasts by an
independent resource sector analyst; and
• Foreign exchange forecasts have been updated based on views provided by
international banks.
iii)Senior Secured Notes
FMG Finance raised US$1,650 million in US dollar denominated and €315 million
in Euro denominated Senior Secured Notes during the previous financial year
to facilitate the construction and initial operation of the Pilbara Iron Ore and
Infrastructure Project.

The key terms and conditions of the notes are:
• US$320 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2013 bearing interest at 10.000%
per annum accruing from August 18, 2006. Interest is payable on March 1 and
September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2007.
• 315 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2013 bearing interest at 9.750% per
annum accruing from August 18, 2006. Interest is payable on March 1 and
September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2007.
• US$1,080 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2016 bearing interest at
10.625% per annum accruing from August 18, 2006. Interest is payable on
March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2007.
• US$250 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2011 bearing interest at threemonth LIBOR plus 4.000% per annum accruing from August 18, 2006. Interest
is payable on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year,
beginning on December 1, 2006.
Other key terms of the notes are:
• They rank pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future senior
indebtedness.
They are secured by, among other security documents, fixed and floating
charges over the assets of FMG Finance Pty Ltd and the project-related assets
of FMG Chichester Pty Ltd, Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd and The Pilbara
Infrastructure Pty Ltd (the “Project Guarantors”), a charge, assignment or
pledge over the bank accounts in which proceeds of the Senior Secured Notes
have been deposited, share mortgages over all the shares in the capital of
the Project Guarantors and FMG Finance, a featherweight charge over all of
the assets and undertakings of Fortescue and mortgages of the real property
leasehold rights of the Project and the Project mining tenements. Total assets of
the Project Guarantors as at 30 June 2008 is $4,864.9 million.
• They are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“the
SGX-ST”).
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NOTE 24. PROVISIONS - CURRENT
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Site rehabilitation
Balance at 1 July
Provisions made during the year
Unwind of discount
Balance at 30 June

22,644
22,644

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

-

-

-

In accordance with State Government legislative requirements, a provision for site rehabilitation has been recognised in relation to Fortescue’s iron ore operations. The
provision has been made in full for all disturbed areas at the reporting date based on current estimates of costs to rehabilitate such areas, discounted to their present value
based on expected future cash flows.
NOTE 25. EMPLOYEES
Consolidated
Average number of employees during the financial year

Note 36 provides details of employee benefits related to share based payments.

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

667

279

667

275
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NOTE 26. ISSUED CAPITAL
A reconciliation of the movement in capital and reserves for the Company and Fortescue can be found in the Statements of Changes in Equity.
DATE

Ordinary shares fully paid:

1 July 2006

Balance at end of financial year
Equity-settled transactions
Exercise of options
Exercise of options
Exercise of options
Issued to Leucadia National Corporation
Issue to Fengli
Equity-settled transactions
Transfer option expense from reserve for converted options
Balance at end of financial year
Shares issued
Exercise of options issued under the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option
Scheme (“FMGIOS”)
Transfer option expense from reserve for converted options
Reorganisation of capital*
Balance at end of financial year

30 June 2007

30 June 2008

Number of Shares
237,689,460
417,450
89,375
2,500
26,400,000
1,086,958
2,000
265,687,743
14,063,000

Issue Price

$’000

$35.98

150,817
16
1,114
508
17
394,270
30,023
72
829
577,666
505,986

3,217,216

$0.85

2,737

2,521,395,801
2,804,363,760

-

1,760
1,088,149

$5.21
$2.67
$5.69
$7.03
$14.93
$27.62
$36.00
-

* The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid
ordinary share was split into ten fully paid ordinary shares.
Fully paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. Ordinary shares participate in the proceeds on
winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held.
Effective 1 July 1998, the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of par value shares and the concept of authorised capital. Accordingly, the Company does not
have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.
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NOTE 27. RESERVES
(a) The share based payments reserve
The share based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options. The movement in the share based payments reserve is
disclosed in the Statements of Changes in Equity.
(b) Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets and has a carrying value as at 30 June 2008 of $880,000. There has been no movement in the
asset revaluation reserve during the 2007 or 2008 financial years. Under certain circumstances dividends can be declared from this reserve.
NOTE 28. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share at 30 June 2008 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of $2,516,238,000 (2007: loss $192,256,000) and a
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year ended 30 June 2008 of 1,620,211,000 (2007: 1,593,887,000), calculated as follows:
Consolidated

Loss attributable to ordinary shares
Net loss for continuing operations

2007
$’000
Restated

2008
$’000
(2,516,238)

(192,256)

Consolidated
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic loss per share (’000)
Basic loss per share (in cents)

2008

2007

(2,516,238)
1,620,211
(155.30)

(192,256)
1,593,887
(12.06)

Diluted loss per share
The Company’s potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not considered dilutive as the conversion to these options would result in a decrease in the net loss
per share.
NOTE 29. TOTAL EQUITY
Total equity for Fortescue is lower than that of the Company. This was created by the fair value adjustment to the Subordinated Loan Note of $3,466,134,000 (refer note 7)
recorded in FMG Chichester Pty Ltd. It is not considered that this represents an impairment event as there will be significant profit generated upon commencement of
production of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project.
As at 30 June 2008 Fortescue has a net deficit position on its balance sheet of $1,639,684,000. This net deficit is primarily the result of the $3,466,134,000 (refer note 7) fair
value adjustment to the Subordinated Loan Note. Interest under the note is calculated at 4% of the revenue, net of government royalties, from the sale of iron ore FOB Port
Hedland from the tenements of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. This fair value adjustment is non-cash and reflects expected significant increases in revenues
to be generated from the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project.
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Under current accounting standards Fortescue is required to account for the fair value impact of higher projected revenues on its Subordinated Loan Note borrowings liability.
Conversely, Fortescue has adopted the cost method of accounting for its assets, which does not show the fair value impact on its assets resulting from higher projected
revenues and higher future cash inflows.
The Directors believe Fortescue will be able to meet all of its debts as and when they fall due in line with current cash flow forecasts.
NOTE 30. SEGMENT REPORTING
Fortescue operates exclusively in the iron ore exploration and production industry in Australia.
NOTE 31. AUDITORS REMUNERATION
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Audit services
Auditors of Fortescue
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
Auditing – the financial report
Other services
Auditors of Fortescue
BDO Consultants (WA) Pty Ltd:
Financial due diligence
BDO Risk Advisory Services (QLD) Pty Ltd
Risk advisory services

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

226

99

226

99

47

63

47

63

21
294

162

21
294

162

NOTE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
In common with all other businesses, Fortescue is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note describes Fortescue’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial
statements.
General objectives, policies and processes
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of Fortescue’s risk management objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has
delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to Fortescue’s finance function. The
board receives reports as required from the Chief Financial Officer through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the
objectives and policies it sets.
The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting Fortescue’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further
details regarding these policies are set out below.
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Financial risks
Fortescue’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Fortescue’s
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of
Fortescue. Fortescue uses interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other
speculative instruments. Fortescue uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of
interest rate, currency and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk.
Principal Financial Instruments
Fortescue and the Company hold the following financial instruments:
Consolidated

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Security deposits
Intercompany receivables
Other receivables
Loan receivable
Derivative held at fair value
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Derivative held at fair value
Intercompany payables
Deposits received
Borrowings

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

192,237
50,059
89,972
1,829
2,445
38
336,580

1,682,201
243,755
112
2,438
3,168
38
1,931,712

284
13,047
3,190,345
1,829
2,445
38
3,207,988

48,092
2,963
356,423
112
2,438
38
410,066

164,405
15,162
116,381
6,306,623
6,602,571

66,246
43,248
2,911,586
3,021,080

9,123
2,329,931
2,339,054

2,544
2,544

(a) Market risk
Market risk arises from Fortescue’s use of interest bearing and foreign currency financial instruments. It is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).
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(i) Foreign exchange risk
Fortescue’s policy is, where possible, to allow group entities to settle liabilities denominated in their functional currency (AUD) with the cash generated from their own
operations in that currency. Where group entities have liabilities denominated in a currency other than their functional currency (and have insufficient reserves of that currency
to settle them) cash already denominated in that currency will, where possible, be transferred from other entities within Fortescue.
Fortescue operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect to the US dollar and Euro.
Fortescue is exposed to currency risk on cash reserves, deposits received, trade receivables and borrowings.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting. Fortescue has not entered into any forward exchange contracts as at 30 June 2008 and is currently
fully exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Fortescue’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:
30 June 2008
USD
$’000*
Cash and cash equivalents
Security deposits
Trade receivables
Derivative held at fair value
Deposits received
Borrowings
Total exposure

30 June 2007
EURO
$’000*

158,024
14,409
37,012
(15,162)
(106,381)
(5,774,693)
(5,686,791)

25,944
1,838
13,047
(531,930)
(491,101)

USD
$’000*

EURO
$’000*

1,147,236
61,566
3,168
(33,248)
(2,397,971)
(1,219,249)

129,379
6,267
(513,615)
(377,969)

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in Australian dollars except as set out below:
30 June 2008
USD
$’000*
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Total exposure

* = Balances reflect Australian dollar equivalent values.

-

30 June 2007
EURO
$’000*
13,047
13,047

USD
$’000*
30,023
30,023

EURO
$’000*
-
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NOTE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
A 5 percent strengthening of the Australian dollar against the US dollar and Euro at 30 June would have:
• increased equity and decreased Fortescue’s loss, primarily through a lower valuation of Fortescue’s borrowings, by the amounts shown below; and
• decreased equity and increased the Company’s loss by the amounts shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

Equity
$’000

Consolidated
Profit or loss
$’000

Company
Equity
$’000

Profit or loss
$’000

30 June 2008
USD
Euro

189,522
16,370

189,522
16,370

(435)

(435)

30 June 2007
USD
Euro

25,307
12,593

25,307
12,593

(1,429)
-

(1,429)
-

A 5 percent weakening of the Australian dollar against the US dollar and euro at 30 June would have:
• decreased equity and increased Fortescue’s loss, primarily through a higher valuation of Fortescue’s borrowings, by the amounts shown below; and
• increased equity and decreased the Company’s loss by the amounts shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

Equity
$’000

Consolidated
Profit or loss
$’000

30 June 2008
USD
Euro

(209,471)
(18,093)

(209,471)
(18,093)

30 June 2007
USD
Euro

(29,988)
(13,925)

(29,988)
(13,925)

Company
Equity
$’000

Profit or loss
$’000

-

456

456

1,499
-

1,499
-
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(ii) Commodity price risk
Fortescue and the Company are exposed to commodity price risk. Contract iron ore prices are set by the global market annually on 1 April of each year for the following
12 months. Fortescue has not entered into any forward commodity price contracts as at 30 June 2008 and is currently fully exposed to commodity price risk. Fortescue’s
exposure to commodity price risk at the reporting date was as follows:
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Borrowings
Trade receivables
Total exposure

(4,012,600)
22,372
(3,990,228)

Company
2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

(400,901)
(400,901)

-

-

Sensitivity analysis
Trade receivables relate to USD iron ore commodity sales.
Borrowings relates to Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note. Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note is calculated at 4% of the revenue, net of government royalties, from the sale of iron
ore FOB Port Hedland from the tenements of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. The valuation of the note is based on several forecasts including future iron ore prices.
A 10 percent strengthening of the future iron ore price included in trade receivables and the valuation model at 30 June would have decreased equity and increased Fortescue’s
loss by the amounts shown below. This is because under current accounting standards Fortescue is required to account for the fair value impact of higher projected revenues on its
Subordinated Loan Note borrowing liability. Conversely, Fortescue has adopted the cost method of accounting for its assets which does not show the fair value impact on its assets
resulting from higher revenues and higher future cash inflows. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

Equity
$’000
30 June 2008
30 June 2007

(395,911)
(26,557)

Consolidated
Profit or loss
$’000
(395,911)
(26,557)

Company
Equity
$’000

Profit or loss
$’000

-

-

A 10 percent weakening of the future iron ore price included in trade receivables and the valuation model for Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note at 30 June would have increased equity
and decreased Fortescue’s loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

Equity
$’000
30 June 2008
30 June 2007

395,911
26,557

Consolidated
Profit or loss
$’000
395,911
26,557

Company
Equity
$’000

Profit or loss
$’000

-

-

fortescue metals group

94 | ANNUAL Report 2008

www.fmgl.com.au

Notes to the Financial Statements
Financials
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk
It is Fortescue’s policy either to eliminate interest rate risk over the cash flows on its long-term debt finance through the use of fixed rate instruments or to mitigate the risk
through the use of floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Fortescue currently has a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap over its US$250 million Senior Secured Notes due 2011
and various operating lease contracts. Whilst this is an economic hedge of the cash flow risk Fortescue does not apply hedge accounting.
Fortescue invests surplus cash in term deposits and in doing so exposes itself to the fluctuations in interest rates that are inherent in such a market.
As at reporting date, Fortescue had the following variable rate borrowings (US$250 million Senior Secured Notes due 2011 and the Subordinated Loan Note) and interest rate
swap contracts outstanding:
30 June 2008
Weighted average
interest rate %
Borrowings – Subordinated Loan Note
Borrowings – Senior Secured Notes
Interest rate swaps
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk

564.06%
9.75%
7.08%

4,012,600
262,030
15,162
4,289,792

An analysis by maturities is provided in (c) below.
Interest rate swap contract – Senior Secured Notes
US$250 million of the Senior Secured Notes Facility is denominated in floating
rate notes. It is policy to protect Fortescue from exposure to increasing interest
rates. Accordingly Fortescue has entered into interest rate swap contracts under
which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed
rates. The fixed interest rate is at 5% and the variable interest rate is based on 3
month LIBOR.
At 30 June 2008, the notional principal amount and period of expiry of the interest
rate swap contract is as follows:

Balance
$’000

4 – 5 years

30 June 2007
Weighted average
interest rate %
56.58%
9.75%
10.36%

Balance
$’000
400,901
296,206
(3,168)
693,939

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

262,030
262,030

296,206
296,206

The contract requires settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90
days. The settlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable
on the underlying Senior Secured Notes. The contracts are settled on a net basis.
The gain or loss from measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is
recognised in the income statement immediately. In the year ended 30 June 2008
a loss of $17,193,220 (2007 gain of $3,167,947) was recognised.
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All borrowings other than the US$250 million Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes
above and operating lease contracts below are issued at fixed interest rates
which minimises cash flow interest rate risk but expose the group to fair value
interest rate risk.
Interest rate swap contract – Operating Leases
US$133.57 million of variable interest rate operating lease contracts were entered
into during the 30 June 2008 financial year. It is policy to protect Fortescue
from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly Fortescue has entered
into interest rate swap contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at
variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. The fixed interest rate is at 3.27%
- 3.99% and the variable interest rate is based on 3 month LIBOR.
At 30 June 2008, the notional principal amount and period of expiry of the interest
rate swap contracts are as follows:
2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Fortescue is exposed to a concentration of risk with all iron ore customers being
Chinese companies. Fortescue has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit
worthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. Cash and cash equivalents are held in various financial institutions with
long-term investment grade credit rating and with the capacity for payment of
financial commitments considered strong. Fortescue measures credit risk on a
fair value basis.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount
of the financial assets as summarised in the Principal Financial Instruments
section of this note. For commodity trade receivables Fortescue mitigates its
credit risk by obtaining security in the form of letters of credit prior to ship loading
covering approximately 95% of the value of iron ore shipped.
Fortescue has no receivables past due as at 30 June 2008, nor does it consider
there to be any potential impairment loss on these receivables.

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90
days.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Fortescue
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The gain or loss from measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is
recognised in the income statement immediately. In the year ended 30 June 2008
a loss of $1,137,026 (2007 $nil) was recognised.

Financing arrangements
Fortescue and the Company are fully drawn on their borrowing facilities at the
reporting date.

Sensitivities
If variable interest rates had changed by -/+ 50 basis points from the year-end
rates with all other variables held constant the impact on Fortescue’s post tax
profit and equity position would not have been material.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse Fortescue and the Company’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

4 – 5 years

133,570
133,570

-

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a
counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
Fortescue. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial
instruments, deposits with banks and financial institutions and credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions.
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NOTE 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The maturity profiles below are undiscounted. The expected maturity profile of Fortescue and the Company’s financial investments are analysed below:
Less than 6 months
$’000
Fortescue – At 30 June 2008
Non-interest bearing
Variable rate
Fixed rate
Fortescue – At 30 June 2007
Non-interest bearing
Variable rate
Fixed rate
The Company – At 30 June 2008
Non-interest bearing
Variable rate
Fixed rate
The Company – At 30 June 2007
Non-interest bearing
Variable rate
Fixed rate

6-1 months
$’000

Between 1 and 2
years
$’000

Between 2 and 5
years
$’000

Over 5 years
$’000

Total contractual
cash flows
$’000

Carrying amount
liabilities
$’000

164,405
47,251
89,461
301,117

98,286
88,002
186,288

116,381
278,207
177,462
572,050

2,556,832
532,874
3,089,706

4,794,578
2,147,881
6,942,459

280,786
7,775,154
3,035,680
11,091,620

280,786
4,289,794
2,031,991
6,602,571

66,246
14,833
102,649
183,728

29,666
101,533
131,199

43,248
96,009
203,624
342,881

585,861
611,430
1,197,291

676,196
2,675,542
3,351,738

109,494
1,402,565
3,694,778
5,206,837

109,494
693,939
2,217,647
3,021,080

2,339,054
2,339,054

-

-

-

-

2,339,054
2,339,054

2,339,054
2,339,054

2,544
2,544

-

-

-

-

2,544
2,544

2,544
2,544

(d) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. The carrying amount of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed
in note 3 to the financial statements.
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(e) Capital management
In managing its capital, Fortescue’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent return for its equity shareholders through capital growth.
Fortescue considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, accumulated losses, subordinated loan notes and senior secured notes.
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position.
There were no changes in Fortescue’s approach to capital management during the year.
Fortescue has not breached any covenants during the 2008 financial year.
Fortescue’s capital management portfolio at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 was as follows:
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Total borrowings
Less: cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Total equity/ (deficiency)
Total capital

Company
2007
$’000

6,306,623
(192,237)
6,114,386
(1,639,684)
4,474,702

2,911,586
(1,682,201)
1,229,385
372,689
1,602,074

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

(284)
(284)
1,057,168
1,056,884

(48,092)
(48,092)
552,275
504,183

NOTE 33. OPERATING LEASES
LEASES AS LESSEE
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Consolidated
2008
$’000
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

73,707
230,521
63,002
367,230

Company
2007
$’000
4,942
9,310
149
14,401

2008
$’000
9,728
7,839
17,567

2007
$’000
4,942
9,310
149
14,401

Fortescue leases various offices and other premises under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one to seven years. The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.
Fortescue also leases various motor vehicles, office equipment and plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating leases. The leases have varying terms.
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NOTE 34. COMMITMENTS
(a) Exploration Tenement Leases – Commitments for Expenditure.
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, Fortescue is required to outlay lease rentals and to meet the minimum expenditure requirements of $3.5
million over the next financial year (2007: $4.0 million).
Financial commitments for subsequent periods are contingent upon future exploration results and can not be estimated. These obligations are subject to renegotiation upon
expiry of the exploration leases or when application for a mining licence is made and have not been provided for in the accounts.
(b) Project Commitments
Commitments exist in relation to the project for up to $178.8 million (2007: $776.0 million) over the next financial year, being the current contracts and orders in relation to the
construction of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure project.
(c) Capital Commitments
As at 30 June 2008 Fortescue has commitments to capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities for mobile mining equipment orders
of $541.0 million (2007: $275.2 million) related to the development and production of its Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project. The majority of this equipment is expected
to be funded through operating leases.
NOTE 35. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Key management personnel remuneration
The Key Management Personnel remuneration included in ‘administration expenses’ (see note 8) are as follows:
Consolidated

Short-term employee benefits
Other long term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Equity compensation benefits

Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2,499,475
190,589
165,009
2,855,073

3,289,567
247,685
213,359
3,750,611

2,499,475
190,589
165,009
2,855,073

3,289,567
247,685
213,359
3,750,611

Balances above are recognised on a gross basis. Wages and salaries, disclosed as part of administration expenses in note 8, are recognised net of salary recoveries.
Individual Directors and executives remuneration disclosures
Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company or Fortescue since the end of the previous financial year and
there were no material contracts involving Directors’ interests existing at year-end.
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Option over equity instruments
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each Key Management
Person, including their related parties, is as follows:

2008
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
H Elliott
A Forrest
G Rowley
R Scrimshaw
K Ambrecht
J Steinberg
G Brayshaw
Other key management personnel
A Watling
C Catlow
G Cowe

2007
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
A Forrest
G Rowley
H Elliott
R Scrimshaw
K Ambrecht
J Steinberg
G Brayshaw
Other key management personnel
A Watling
C Catlow
G Cowe

Exercised

Other changes
during the year*

Balance at
30 June 2008

Vested during
the year

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2008

-

-

-

-

-

(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)

1,800,000
900,000
2,700,000

1,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000

Held at 1 July 2006

Granted as
remuneration

Exercised

Other changes
during the year

Balance at
30 June 2007

Vested during
the year

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Held at 1 July 2007

Granted as
remuneration

-

-

200,000
100,000
300,000

200,000
100,000
300,000

-

200,000
100,000
300,000

500,000
250,000
750,000

50,000
25,000
75,000

500,000
500,000
1,000,000

100,000
25,000
125,000

* The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid
ordinary share was split into ten fully paid ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued by Fortescue, Fortescue’s options were also reorganised through an option
split whereby each option was split into ten options. The numbers of options vested during the year in 2008 and 2007 have been adjusted to account for this option split.
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NOTE 35. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)
Movements in shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held directly, inadvertently or beneficially, by each Key Management Person,
including their related parties, are set out below.
2008 Ordinary shares
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
A Forrest
G Rowley
H Elliott
R Scrimshaw
K Ambrecht
J Steinberg
G Brayshaw
Other key management personnel
A Watling
C Catlow
G Cowe
TOTAL

Held at 1 July 2007
102,307,830
2,023,569
550,000
800,000
650,000
26,400,000
800,000
133,531,399

Received on exercise
of options
100,000
100,000

Purchases

Sales

Held at 30 June 2008

7,618
1,398,600 (B)
4,418

907,090,470
18,212,121
4,951,179
7,200,000
5,851,215
250,187,400
12,807

(3,905,000)
(720,000) (A)
(2,968,050) (A)
(225,000)
-

1,005,493,300
19,515,690
2,540,689
8,000,000
6,283,833
277,986,000
17,225

1,418,196

900,000
7,200,000
1,201,605,192

(7,818,050)

1,000,000
8,000,000
1,328,836,737

7,560
-

Share split *

A – The Directors relevant direct or indirect interest in these Fortescue Metals Group Ltd shares may have been disposed of. These disposals do not reflect sales to the
benefit of the Directors. These matters are the subject of legal review.
B – LUK-Fortescue LLC acquired 1,398,600 shares in the Company during the current financial year. LUK-Fortescue LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Leucadia National
Corporation and prior to the relevant placement was the registered holder of 26,400,000 ordinary shares. Messrs. Steinberg and Cumming have an oral agreement pursuant
to which they will consult with each other as to the election of a mutually acceptable Board of Directors of Leucadia National Corporation. As their collective voting power in
Leucadia National Corporation exceeds 20%, Mr. Steinberg is deemed under s608(3)(a) of the Corporations Act to have a relevant interest in the Fortescue shares in which
Leucadia National Corporation has a relevant interest.
* The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid
ordinary share was split into ten fully paid ordinary shares.
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2007 Ordinary shares
Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
A Forrest
G Rowley
H Elliott
R Scrimshaw
K Ambrecht
J Steinberg
G Brayshaw
Other key management personnel
A Watling
C Catlow
G Cowe
TOTAL

Held at 1 July 2006

Received on exercise
of options

Purchases

Share split *

Sales

Held at 30 June 2007

102,307,830
2,023,569
550,000
1,077,600
750,000
-

-

26,400,000
-

-

(277,600)
(100,000)
-

102,307,830
2,023,569
550,000
800,000
650,000
26,400,000
-

800,000
107,508,999

-

26,400,000

-

(377,600)

800,000
133,531,399

Other transactions with key management personnel
The Company has revised its estimate in relation to the liability to Leucadia National Corporation (“Leucadia”) under the terms of the Subordinated Loan Note (see Note 23:
Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings). The note was revalued at 30 June 2008 to $4,012,600,000 (30 June 2007: $400,901,000). Leucadia is a company related to Mr
Joseph Steinberg, who is a director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd.
At 30 June 2008 Mr Joseph Steinberg, who is a director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, held €500,000.00 9.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2013. Interest paid and payable
for the year was $39,990.16. The balance as at 30 June 2008 was $820,209.97 (30 June 2007: Nil).
Non-key management personnel disclosures
Subsidiaries
Loans are made by the Company to wholly owned subsidiaries for capital purchases. Loans outstanding between the Company and its controlled entities have no fixed date
of repayment and is non-interest bearing. During the financial year ended 30 June 2008, such loans to subsidiaries totalled $3,190.3 million receivable (2007: $356.4 million)
and $2,329.9 million payable (2007: $Nil). These loans have been recognised as current receivables and current payables.
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NOTE 36. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Shareholders approved the implementation of the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”) at the 2005 AGM. The FMGOIS entitles key management personnel
and senior employees to purchase shares in the Company. In accordance with these programmes options are exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant.
During the 2007 financial year the Board established the Performance Rights Plan (“PRP”). Under the PRP, participants are offered an award of rights to acquire ordinary
shares in the Company (referred to here as “Performance Rights”). The offer of Performance Rights under the PRP takes the form of a conditional entitlement to be issued
shares in the Company for nil consideration at the end of the applicable performance period subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions.
No share options or Performance Rights were issued during the current financial year. The PRP and FMGIOS are currently not considered key platforms in the remuneration
and retention strategy of Fortescue.
The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:
Grant date / employee entitled

Number of instruments*

Vesting conditions

Contractual life of options

20,000,000
4,300,000
5,000,000
29,300,000

Four years of service
Four years of service
Four years of service

5 years
5 years
5 years

Option grant to key management in June 2005
Option grant to key management in January 2006
Option grant to key management in June 2006
Total share options

* Adjusted in line with the reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Groups Ltd effected on 19 December 2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby
each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid ordinary shares. Options were also split whereby each option was split into ten options.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Outstanding at 1 July
Exercised between 1 July and 19 December
Granted between 1 July and 19 December
Outstanding at 19 December
Option split on 19 December
Outstanding at 20 December
Exercised between 20 December and 30 June
Outstanding at 30 June
Exercisable at 30 June

Weighted average exercise price
2008

Number of options
2008

Weighted average exercise price
2007

Number of options
2007

$4.23
$3.34
$4.42
$0.44
$0.43
$0.44
$0.39

2,560,675
(436,847)
2,123,828
19,114,452
21,238,280
(2,945,370)
18,292,910
11,474,800

$3.86
$2.67
$8.45
$4.00
$4.00
$4.15
$4.23
$3.55

2,930,000
(319,950)
140,000
2,750,050
2,750,050
(189,375)
2,560,675
1,078,992

The options outstanding at 30 June 2008 have an exercise price in the range of $0.27 to $0.93 and a weighted average contractual life of 5 years.
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The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the
services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model.
The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date:

Grant Date

Expiry Date

Fair value per option *

Exercise price *

Price of shares on
grant date *

Expected volatility 1

Risk free interest rate

Dividend yield

1 June 2005
25 January 2006
1 June 2006
2 October 2006
9 October 2006
28 October 2006

31 December 2009
25 January 2011
1 June 2011
31 December 2009
31 December 2009
31 December 2009

$0.20
$0.46
$0.58
$0.56
$0.58
$0.62

$0.27
$0.57
$0.70
$0.82
$0.88
$0.93

$0.27
$0.62
$0.77
$0.85
$0.89
$0.96

26.40%
26.80%
26.80%
25.50%
25.50%
25.50%

5.75%
5.13%
5.75%
5.75%
5.75%
5.75%

-

Expected volatility is calculated using the AGSM risk measurement for the period
* Adjusted in line with the reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Groups Ltd effected on 19 December 2007. Each option was split into ten options.

1

Employee expenses
Consolidated

Share options granted in 2005- equity settled
Share options granted in 2006- equity settled
Share options granted in 2007- equity settled
Total expense recognised as employee costs

The Company

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

499
1,220
213
1,932

892
1,220
155
2,267

499
1,220
213
1,932

892
1,220
155
2,267
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Financials
NOTE 37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
ASIC Proceedings
The Australian Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”) has commenced
legal proceedings against Fortescue and its Chief Executive Officer in relation to
market disclosure of certain agreements signed by the Company in 2004. The
agreement in question relate to those signed with China Railway Engineering
Corporation (“CREC”), China Harbour Engineering Corporation (“CHEC”) and
China Metallurgical Construction Corporation (“MCC”).
The ASIC statement of claim alleges a breach by the Company and by the CEO
of the continuous disclosure provisions of the Corporations Act under Section
674 and also a breach under Section 1041H relating to deceptive and misleading
conduct. ASIC is seeking civil penalties of up to $6,000,000 from the Company
and $5,600,000 for the CEO and an order that he compensate Fortescue for any
pecuniary penalty it may be required to pay.
Both the Company and the CEO Mr Andrew Forrest will vigorously contest the
charges.
Fatality at Mine Site
On 11 January 2008 an incident occurred during the construction of the
processing plant at the Cloudbreak Mine site involving an employee of United
Construction and which tragically resulted in the employee’s death.
The Company understands that a Coronial inquest and Worksafe investigation
into the circumstances surrounding the fatality has commenced but at this time
there is insufficient information to quantify any potential damages resulting from
this event.
BGC Writ of Summons
Fortescue reports that legal action and arbitration has been initiated by
BGC Contracting pursuant to an outstanding amount owing following the
termination in May 2007 of the original Alliance Agreement and subsequent reengagement under a cost plus arrangement. As advised following the cyclones
in March, Fortescue restructured the rail earthworks program to include two
new contractors. As part of the restructure, the BGC Alliance Agreement was

terminated and BGC was re-engaged under a cost plus arrangement. The total
amount being disputed under the Alliance termination and Final Payment Claim
of the cost plus arrangement is approximately $49.2 million which relates to direct
costs and a profit margin payment. Fortescue is contesting the disputed amount
claimed and hopes that it will be resolved promptly.
Cyclone George Inquiry
Fortescue was served with a notice by Worksafe following an investigation into
the Cyclone George incident in March last year. Fortescue has been charged
with one offence and its subsidiary, The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd (“TPI”),
with 17 offences under the Occupational Safety & Health Act 1984. The charges
each carry a maximum penalty of $400,000 valuing Fortescue’s maximum penalty
at $7,200,000. Fortescue has handed the matter to its solicitors and will be
defending the charges.
NOTE 38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Project Completion
On 18 July 2008 Fortescue received independent sign off certifying the
achievement of “Project Completion” for the first stage of its integrated mine, rail
and port facilities in the Pilbara region of Western Australia. Project Completion
includes operations having mined, railed and shipped two million tonnes within a
four week period, which has been verified by the Project’s Independent Engineer
Behre Dolbear Australia. Achieving Project Completion satisfies certain covenants
within Fortescue’s financial arrangements and allows Fortescue to pursue its
stated ambition to expand and further develop growth projects across the
Chichester Ranges.
Cyclone George Inquiry
On 27 July 2008 Fortescue was served with a notice by Worksafe following an
investigation into the Cyclone George incident in March last year. Fortescue has
been charged with one offence and its subsidiary, The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty
Ltd (“TPI”), with 17 offences under the Occupational Safety & Health Act 1984.
The charges each carry a maximum penalty of $400,000 valuing Fortescue’s
maximum penalty at $7,200,000. Fortescue has handed the matter to its solicitors
and will be defending the charges.
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Proposed Issue of Preference Shares
On 30 September 2008, the Company held an Extraordinary General Meeting to
seek shareholder approval for an amendment to Fortescue’s constitution to allow
for the issuance of preference shares. All resolutions were passed unanimously
at the meeting. Following the approval, Fortescue processed an application for
preference shares for an aggregate of A$140 million.
NOTE 39. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd and its controlled entities, except Fortescue Pacific
Limited, are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company
guarantees the debts of the others:
Holding Entity
• Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Group Entities
• FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd
• FMG Chichester Pty Ltd
• FMG Finance Pty Ltd
• FMG Magnetite Pty Ltd
• FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd
• Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd
• Karribi Developments Pty Ltd
• FMG Resources Pty Ltd
• International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd
• The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd
By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from
the requirement to prepare a financial report and Directors’ Report under Class
Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission.

a) Consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated
retained profits
The ‘Closed Group’ is represented by the above companies is the same as
the consolidated group, and as there are no other parties to the Deed of Cross
Guarantee that are controlled by the Company, they also represent the ‘Extended
Closed Group’. The income statement and summary movements in consolidated
retained profits for the year ended 30 June 2008 along with the consolidated
balance sheet as at 30 June 2008 for the Closed Group is the same as that of the
consolidated group.
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Directors’ Declaration
Financials
FORTESCUE METALS GROUP LTD AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
ACN 002 594 872
Declaration by Directors
The Directors of the Company declare that:
1. The financial statements, comprising the income statements, balance sheets, cash flow statements, statements of changes in equity and accompanying notes are in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(a) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of the performance for the year ended on that date of the Company and the consolidated entity.
2. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
3. The remuneration disclosures included on pages 41 to 49 of the Directors’ Report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report), for the year ended 30 June 2008, comply
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
4. The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Section 295A.
The entities identified in note 39 are parties to the deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others. At the date of this declaration
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the companies which are parties to this deed of cross guarantee will as a consolidated entity be able to meet any obligations or
liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to, by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 39.
Dated at Perth this 19th day of September 2008.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the Directors by:

Mr Herb Elliott
Chairman
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BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
128 Hay Street
SUBIACO WA 6008
PO Box 700
WEST PERTH WA 6872
Phone 61 8 9380 8400
Fax 61 8 9380 8499
aa.perth@bdo.com.au
www.bdo.com.au
ABN 79 112 284 787

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FORTESCUE METALS GROUP LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Fortescue Metals Group Limited, which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or
from time to time during the financial year.

(b)

the financial report of Fortescue Metals Group Limited is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial
position as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that
date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 2.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial
report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the Directors’ Report for the year
ended 30 June 2008. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations
Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Fortescue Metals Group Limited for the year ended
30 June 2008, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial report is free from material misstatement.

BDO Kendalls Audit and Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial report.

GD O’Brien
Director
Dated this 19th day of September 2008
Perth, Western Australia

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.
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Shareholders Details
Financials
Top 20 Holders of Ordinary Shares (Grouped)
*G1 / ORDINARY SHARES (GROUPED)
Information as at 19 September 2008
Rank

Name

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

THE METAL GROUP PTY LTD 42 JOHN STREET COTTESLOE WA
LUK-FORTESCUE LLC C/- CORINNE MAKI 529 EAST SOUTH TEMPLE SALT LAKE CITY UT 84102
ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> GPO BOX 2842AA MELBOURNE VIC
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED GPO BOX 764G MELBOURNE VIC
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED GPO BOX 1406 MELBOURNE VIC
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSI ECSA GPO BOX 5302 SYDNEY NSW
EMICHROME PTY LTD PO BOX 176 SYDNEY NSW
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED GPO BOX 5302 SYDNEY NSW
MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED LEVEL 21 120 COLLINS STREET MELBOURNE VIC
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 GPO BOX 5302 SYDNEY NSW
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED LOCKED BAG 7 ROYAL EXCHANGE NSW
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA GPO BOX 5302 SYDNEY NSW
MR WILLIAM GRAEME ROWLEY PO BOX 579 COTTESLOE WA
WWB INVESTMENTS PTY LTD C/- LIFEFX PTY LTD PO BOX 811 HAMILTON CENTRAL QLD
LEAPING JOEY PTY LTD [THE AUST CHILDREN’S TRUST] 42 JOHN STREET COTTESLOE WA
JOHN CUNNINGHAM & ASSOCIATES PTY LIMITED <JOHN CUNNINGHAM PENSION A/C> 4 WARREN ROAD DOUBLE BAY NSW
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 3 GPO BOX 5302 SYDNEY NSW
COGENT NOMINEES PTY LIMITED PO BOX R209 ROYAL EXCHANGE NSW
MS JUDITH MARY STREET COOLAROO HIGH RANGE MITTAGONG NSW
MR WARREN WILLIAM BROWN + MRS MARILYN HELENA BROWN <WWB INVESTMENTS P/L S/F A/C>
C/- LIFEFX PTY LTD PO BOX 811 HAMILTON QLD

Total

Units

% of Issued Capital

1,005,513,300
277,986,000
263,069,066
238,129,741
138,787,449
113,118,614
104,668,310
92,875,774
84,305,803
66,236,508
64,807,682
18,385,548
18,235,690
11,178,400
10,000,000
8,200,100
7,490,515
7,076,099
6,350,000
6,000,000

35.82
9.90
9.37
8.48
4.94
4.03
3.73
3.31
3.00
2.36
2.31
0.66
0.65
0.40
0.36
0.29
0.27
0.25
0.23
0.21

2,542,414,599

90.57

fortescue metals group

ANNUAL Report 2008 | 109

www.fmgl.com.au

Substantial Shareholders
Substantial Shareholder

Total Shares

% of Total Shares

Notice

The Metal Group Pty Ltd

1,005,513,300

35.82

21 January 2005

Harbinger Capital Partners

444,151,916

15.85

24 January 2008

Magnitogorsk Iron and Steel Works

150,360,000

5.37

23 August 2007

Leucadia National Corporation

264,000,000

9.99

22 August 2006

Range of Shares
*G1 / ORDINARY SHARES (GROUPED)
Range

Total Holders

Units

%Issued Capital

1 - 1,000

16,345

8,617,757

0.31

1,001 - 5,000

10,336

25,813,359

0.92

5,001 - 10,000

2,079

16,420,123

0.58

10,001 - 100,000

1,769

50,410,386

1.79

100,001 - Max

268

2,705,595,885

96.40

30,797

2,806,857,510

100.00

Rounding
Total

Unmarketable Parcels
*G1 / ORDINARY SHARES (GROUPED)
Minimum parcel size
Minimum $500.00 parcel at $7.65 per unit

66

Holders
488

Units
23,429

fortescue metals group

110 | ANNUAL Report 2008

www.fmgl.com.au

Tenement Report
Financials
Information as at 26 September 2008

Granted, Cullen Exploration Pty Ltd, 51% of Iron Ore only
E 08/1393

E 47/1154

E 47/1649

E 47/1650

E 52/1667

Application, Derek Ammon, 40% over all minerals
M 47/583
Granted, Derek Ammon, 40% over all minerals
E 47/1140
Application, Flinders Diamonds Ltd, 100% of Iron Ore only
M 47/1407
Granted, Flinders Diamonds Ltd, 100% of Iron Ore only
E 47/1306
Application, FMG Chichester Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 46/664

E 46/666

M 45/1138

M 45/1139

M 45/1140

M 45/1147

M 45/1148

M 45/1149

M 45/1150
Granted, FMG Chichester Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 45/2497

E 45/2498

E 45/2499

E 45/2593

E 45/2651

E 45/2652

E 45/2708

E 46/413

E 46/467

E 46/516

E 46/518

E 46/519

E 46/566

E 46/567

E 46/568

E 46/569

E 46/590

E 46/595

E 46/600

E 46/601

E 46/610

E 46/611

E 46/612

E 46/623

E 46/675

E 47/1434

M 45/1082

M 45/1083

M 45/1084

M 45/1085

M 45/1086

M 45/1087

M 45/1088

M 45/1089

M 45/1090

M 45/1091

M 45/1092

M 45/1093

M 45/1094

M 45/1102

M 45/1103

M 45/1104

M 45/1105

M 45/1106

M 45/1107

M 45/1124

M 45/1125

M 45/1126

M 45/1127

M 45/1128

M 45/1141

M 45/1142

M 46/292

M 46/293

M 46/314

M 46/315

M 46/316

M 46/317

M 46/318

M 46/319

M 46/320

M 46/321

M 46/322

M 46/323

M 46/324

M 46/325

M 46/326

M 46/327

M 46/328

M 46/329

M 46/330

M 46/331

M 46/332

M 46/333

M 46/334

M 46/335

M 46/336

M 46/337

M 46/338

M 46/339

M 46/340

M 46/341

M 46/342

M 46/343

M 46/344

M 46/345

M 46/346

M 46/347

M 46/348

M 46/349

M 46/350

M 46/351

M 46/352

M 46/353

M 46/354

M 46/355

M 46/356

M 46/357

M 46/401

M 46/402

M 46/403

M 46/404

M 46/405

M 46/406

M 46/407

M 46/408

M 46/409

M 46/410

M 46/411

M 46/412

M 46/413

M 46/414

M 46/415

M 46/416

M 46/417

M 46/418

M 46/419

M 46/420

M 46/421

M 46/422

M 46/423

M 46/424

M 46/449

M 46/450

M 46/451

M 46/452

M 46/453

M 46/454

E 45/2866

E 45/2867

E 45/2870

E 45/2919

E 45/2920

E 45/2945

E 45/2946

E 45/2970

E 45/2971

E 45/2972

E 45/2973

E 45/3189

E 45/3191

E 45/3270

E 45/3305

E 45/3306

E 45/3307

E 46/694

E 46/695

E 46/696

E 46/697

E 46/698

E 46/699

E 46/700

E 46/701

E 46/702

E 46/703

E 46/704

E 46/705

E 46/706

E 46/707

E 46/708

E 46/711

E 46/715

E 46/716

E 46/722

E 46/724

E 46/725

E 46/726

E 46/727

E 46/728

E 46/729

E 46/735

E 46/741

E 46/743

E 46/767

E 46/768

E 46/769

E 46/770

E 46/776

E 46/799

E 47/1342

E 47/1343

E 47/1349

E 47/1351

E 47/1355

E 47/1357

E 47/1361

E 47/1363

E 47/1370

E 47/1375

E 47/1383

E 47/1384

E 47/1387

E 47/1388

E 47/1396

E 47/1397

E 47/1398

E 47/1399

E 47/1404

E 47/1419

E 47/1420

E 47/1423

E 47/1433

E 47/1435

E 47/1446

E 47/1449

E 47/1453

E 47/1460

E 47/1500

E 47/1533

E 47/1535

E 47/1543

E 47/1549

E 47/1578

E 47/1579

E 47/1616

E 47/1623

E 47/1651

E 47/1652

E 47/1653

E 47/1654

E 47/1655

E 47/1656

E 47/1659

E 47/1660

E 47/1661

E 47/1662

E 47/1663

E 47/1664

E 47/1665

E 47/1666

E 47/1667

E 47/1668

E 47/1669

E 47/1670

E 47/1671

E 47/1672

E 47/1673

E 47/1674

E 47/1675

E 47/1676

E 47/1677

E 47/1678

E 47/1679

E 47/1680

E 47/1681

E 47/1682

E 47/1684

E 47/1685

E 47/1686

E 47/1687

E 47/1688

E 47/1703

E 47/1728

E 47/1734

E 47/1735

E 47/1741

E 47/1762

E 47/1768

E 47/1771

E 47/1772

E 47/1773

E 47/1805

E 47/1808

E 47/1809

E 47/1818

E 47/1832

E 47/1833

E 47/1843

E 47/1852

E 47/1853

E 47/1854

E 47/1855

E 47/1858

E 47/1879

E 47/1882

E 47/1897

E 47/1918

E 47/1919

E 47/1920

E 47/1921

E 47/1923

E 47/1938

E 47/1939

E 47/1944

E 47/1950

E 47/1969

E 47/1974

E 47/1982

E 47/1985

E 47/1986

E 47/1987

E 47/1988

E 47/1989

E 47/1990

E 47/1991

E 47/1992

E 47/1993

E 47/1994

E 47/1995

E 47/1996

E 47/1997

E 47/1998

E 47/1999

E 47/2000

E 52/1788

E 52/1789

E 52/1790

E 52/1937

E 52/1977

E 52/1984

E 52/2007

E 52/2034

E 52/2035

E 52/2113

E 52/2114

E 52/2187

E 52/2205

E 52/2212

E 52/2256

E47/1690

M 47/1404

M 47/1408

M 47/1409

M 47/1410

M 47/1411

M 47/1413

M 47/1417

P 08/531

P 08/532

P 45/2721

P 47/1198

P 47/1199

P 47/1210

P 47/1211

P 47/1237

P 47/1255

P 47/1256

P 47/1261

P 47/1262

P 47/1278

P 47/1287

P 47/1304

P 47/1305

P 47/1315

P 47/1390

P 47/1391

P 47/1392

P 47/1393

P 47/1394

P 47/1395

P 47/1396

P 47/1397

P 47/1403

P 47/1423

P 47/1427

P 47/1468

P 47/1469

P 47/1470

P47/1269

P47/1280

P47/1281

P47/1282

P47/1283

P47/1284

P47/1285

Granted, FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals

Granted, FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 45/3084
Application, FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 08/1432

E 08/1439

E 08/1440

E 08/1481

E 08/1548

E 08/1550

E 08/1585

E 08/1623

E 08/1624

E 08/1626

E 08/1627

E 08/1628

E 08/1629

E 08/1630

E 08/1631

E 08/1632

E 08/1633

E 08/1714

E 08/1715

E 08/1741

E 08/1762

E 08/1814

E 08/1816

E 08/1878

E 08/1893

E 08/1894

E 08/1895

E 08/1896

E 08/1897

E 08/1898

E 45/2840

E 45/2841

E 45/2842

E 45/2843

E 45/2844

E 45/2845

E 45/2846

E 45/2847

E 45/2848

E 45/2849

E 45/2850

E 45/2851

E 45/2852

E 45/2853

E 45/2854

E 45/2855

E 45/2856

E 45/2857

E 45/2858

E 45/2859

E 45/2860

E 45/2861

E 45/2862

E 45/2863

E 45/2864

E 45/2865

E 08/1547

E 08/1549

E 08/1760

E 08/1761

E 08/1831

E 45/2707

E 45/2709

E 45/2712

E 45/2713

E 45/2714

E 45/2737

E 45/2748

E 45/2749

E 45/2770

E 46/517

E 46/621

E 46/622

E 47/1155

E 47/1320

E 47/1333

E 47/1334

E 47/1352

E 47/1372

E 47/1373

E 47/1390

E 47/1391

E 47/1392

E 47/1393

E 47/1395

E 47/1436

E 47/1447

E 47/1448

E 47/1455

E 47/1479

E 47/1480

E 47/1523

E 47/1524

E 47/1532

E 47/1702

E 47/1761

E 47/1763

E 47/1764

E 47/1821

E 52/1759

E 52/1760

E 52/1779

P 47/1252

P 47/1253

P 47/1257

P 47/1270

P 47/1279

P 47/1286

P 47/1306

P 47/1307

P 47/1308

P 47/1309

P 47/1398

P 47/1399

P 47/1400

P 47/1401

P 47/1402

P 47/1404

P 47/1405

P 47/1406

P 47/1407

P 47/1408

P 47/1409

P 47/1410

P 47/1411

P 47/1412

P46/1593

fortescue metals group
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Application, FMG Resources Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 04/1536

E 04/1537

E 04/1538

E 04/1539

E 45/3221

E 45/3222

E 45/3223

E 45/3224

E 45/3225

E 45/3226

E 51/1158

E 51/1159

E 51/1165

E 51/1166

E 52/1945

E 52/1946

E 52/1947

E 57/738

E 57/756

E 59/1267

E 59/1275

E 59/1279

E 69/2516

E 69/2517

E 69/2518

E 69/2519

E 69/2520

E 69/2521

E 69/2522

E 69/2523

E 69/2524

E 69/2525

E 69/2526

E 69/2527

E 69/2528

E 69/2529

E 69/2530

E 69/2531

P 47/1177

P 47/1178

P 47/1156

P 47/1414

Granted, FMG Resources Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 04/1534

E 04/1535

E 59/1360

E 77/1385

Application, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 47/1319

P 47/1172

P 47/1179

P 47/1180

P 47/1173

P 47/1174

P 47/1175

P 47/1176

Granted, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 45/2510

E 45/2535

E 47/1299

E 47/1300

E 47/1301

E 47/1302

Application, Maincoast Pty Ltd, 100% over all minerals
E 47/1461

E 70/2596

Application, Pilbara Iron Ore Pty Ltd, 50% over all minerals
M 47/580

M 47/581

M 47/582

Granted, Pilbara Iron Ore Pty Ltd, 50% over all minerals
E 47/1191

E 47/1192

E 47/1224

E 47/1225

E 47/1235

E 47/1380

Application, Prenti Exploration Pty Ltd & Flinders Diamonds Ltd, 100% of Iron Ore only
M 47/663

M 47/664

M 47/671

M 47/672

M 47/665

M 47/666

M 47/667

M 47/668

M 47/669

Granted, Prenti Exploration Pty Ltd & Flinders Diamonds Ltd, 100% of Iron Ore only
E 47/1011

E 47/1016

Granted, Talisman Mining Ltd, 100% of Iron Ore only
E 47/1136

E 47/1194

E 47/1195

E 47/1196

M 47/670

New Zealand Tenements
Application, FMG Pacific Ltd, 100% over all minerals
50873

50874

50960

50961

50992

50993

50990

50991

50994

51016

51018

51074

50996

50995
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